
 
 
 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  Contact: Elaine Huckell 

Scrutiny Officer 
Thursday, 7 November 2019 at 7.30 pm  Direct: 020-8379-3530 
Conference Room, Civic Centre, Silver 
Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA 

 Tel: 020-8379-1000 
  
 E-mail: elaine.huckell@enfield.gov.uk 

 Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

 
Councillors : Susan Erbil (Chair), Tolga Aramaz, Guner Aydin, Sinan Boztas, 
Bernadette Lappage, Achilleas Georgiou (Vice-Chair), Edward Smith and Lee David-
Sanders 
 
 
Education Statutory Co-optees: 1 vacancy (Church of England diocese 
representative), Simon Goulden (other faiths/denominations representative), Tony 
Murphy (Catholic diocese representative), Alicia Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent 
Governor Representative). 
 
Enfield Youth Parliament Co-optees (2) 
Support Officer – Susan O’Connell (Governance & Scrutiny Officer) 
Elaine Huckell (Governance & Scrutiny Officer) 
 

 
AGENDA – PART 1 

 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES   
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 Members of the Council are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary, 

other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests relevant to the items on the 
agenda. 
 

3. TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION  (Pages 1 - 52) 
 
 To receive a report from Joanne Drew, Director of Housing and Nick Martin, 

Head of Service Temporary Accommodation. 
 

4. OFSTED IMPROVEMENT PLAN  (Pages 53 - 60) 
 
 To receive a report from Angela Bent, Head of Service Practice Improvement 

& Partnerships, Children’s Services. 
 

5. ANNUAL CHILDREN'S SELF EVALUATION FRAMEWORK 
ASSESSMENT (SEF) 2019  (Pages 61 - 76) 

 

Public Document Pack



 To receive an update on the Children’s Self Evaluation 2019 from Angela 
Bent,  Head of Service Practice Improvement & Partnerships, Children’s 
Services. 
 

6. BUDGET PROGRESS UPDATE  (Pages 77 - 78) 
 
 To receive an update from Fay Hammond, Executive Director of Resources 

(Acting) 
 

7. WORK PROGRAMME 2019/ 20  (Pages 79 - 82) 
 
 To note the work programme for 2019/ 20 

 
8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 
 To note the dates of future meetings as follows: 

 
Call-In meeting to be held on Thursday 14 November 2019 
 
Business meetings of OSC 

 Thursday 19 December 2019 (Budget meeting) 

 Thursday 13 February 2020 

 Thursday 2 April 2020 

 
Provisional Call-In dates 

Thursday 28 November 2019 

Thursday 30 January 2020 

Thursday 6 February 2020 

Wednesday 4 March 2020 

Thursday 26 March 2020 

Tuesday 28 April 2020 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



1 
 

 
 

REPORT TO: Overview & Scrutiny  
Committee 
 
DATE: 7th November 2019 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR/S: 
Joanne Drew 
Nick Martin 
 
Contact: 
Nick Martin 
Nick.martin@enfield.gov.uk 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
In response to the brief set by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee this 

report sets out how the Temporary Accommodation service is run and the role 

of the Housing Gateway in helping us to meet and discharge our 

homelessness obligations.   This report needs to be read in conjunction with 

the report on the future of the Homelessness service submitted to Cabinet in 

September 2019. 

 

2.        BACKGROUND TO THE SERVICE 

 

Enfield had 3410 families in TA as at April 2019, this represents the 2nd 

highest number of families in TA nationally. This has been driven by a 246% 

increase in homeless acceptances between 2010 and 2017 compared to 35% 

average increase across London. We recently commissioned the Smith 

Institute (see appendix 1)  to carry out research on homelessness in Enfield 

and it was found that loss of a private rented sector tenancy (AST) is the key 

driver of homelessness. 

 

For each of the last three years, there have been more households entering 

Temporary Accommodation (TA) than exiting. The net inflow has been 940 

households. Although over the last 12 months, the number of households in 

TA has stabilised at between 3,300 and 3,400.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
REPORT TITLE:  
 
Temporary Accommodation   
 
 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



2 
 

Enfield procures TA across four broad types. They are Nightly Paid 
Accommodation (NPA), Bed & Breakfast Accommodation (B&B), Private 
Leased Annexes (PLA) and Private Sector Leased (PSL) Accommodation. 
For the first two, the arrangements are on a day by day basis with only 24 
hours’ notice required for the Council to not pay for the accommodation. For 
the second two types of accommodation, these are long term leases 
generally for 2-5 years. Some of our leasing arrangements have been in 
place for more than 10 years. PLA’s are leased from estate agents in block 
contracts whereas PSL’s from private landlords. 
 
TA Portfolio breakdown 
As of 31st August 2019, most of the portfolio is Nightly Paid (59%). Leased 

accommodation across PLA & PSL is responsible for most of the remainder 

with only 42 B&B placements still in use. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net unit loss per night vary significantly across accommodation types with 

Nightly paid the most expensive. PSL properties turn a subsidy for the 

Council. This is an indication that contracting and interacting effectively with 

Private Sector landlords rather than block bookings is more cost effective. 

Nightly paid is higher cost to the Council per unit than B&B. 

 

Location of TA placements 

                        

2405, 73%
540, 16%

375, 11%

Location of TA Placements

In Borough In London Out of London
     

                          

Page 2



3 
 

Our TA portfolio is primarily located in the Enfield Area with an even split of 

nightly let and leased accommodation (please see chart above). Historically 

we mainly procured in the Enfield area, however due to high homelessness 

demand and limited supply of suitable accommodation in the borough we 

have had to place further away, both out of borough (in London), and out of 

London areas. 

 

The Haringey area is where we place the highest number of households 

compared to other areas of London totalling in the region of 300 placements. 

We have been in contact with Haringey recently to start the process of 

discussing how we can exchange properties as Haringey have 600 

households placed in the Enfield area. 

 

In relation to out of London placements Harlow is where we have the highest 

proportion of TA placements. The issue for out of borough placements is dealt 

with in part 2 of this report – Issues and challenges. 

 
TA Spend 
Enfield’s spend on TA is high, however in comparison to other boroughs we 
receive a high income for those properties, please see table below detailing 
key costs for TA: 
 

                    

Key Areas 2018/19 2019/20

Staffing £3,951,821 £3,184,440

Property Costs £50,161,329 £48,600,560

Incentives £917,932 £1,354,760

Bad Debt £1,330,392 £1,408,700

Repairs £786,957 £844,830

Rental Income -£45,522,590 -£45,558,260

Decant income -£200,000 -£1,275,000

Total Spend £7,879,977 £5,249,230  
 
We are under continued pressure to lower the budget deficit and have 
several projects and schemes in process to achieve this as follows: 
 

 Use of regeneration decants 

 Move on from TA (Homefinders) 

 Portfolio renegotiation 

 Homelessness Service Review 
 
The effect on the General Fund budget from delivery of the above projects 
and schemes for the next 3 years is forecast as follows: 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



4 
 

3 YEAR BUDGET PROFILE FOR TEMPORARY 
ACCOMMODATION/HOMELESSNESS 

  Proposed TA Budget deficit 
Decrease 
in Budget 

TA Budget 
19/20 (current) 

5,797,920 - 

TA Budget 
20/21 

4,017,920 
1,780,000 

TA Budget 
21/22 

3,182,920 
835,000 

TA Budget 
22/23 

3,057,920 
125,000 

3 Year Total 10,258,760 2,740,000 

 
 
TA net cost 
The chart below demonstrates an overall drop in net cost of TA, however we 
have seen a slight increase since April – this is normally down to highs and 
lows in demand for nightly let accommodation. 
 

 
 
Nightly let procurement 
Enfield use an online web portal Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) – adam. 
We work jointly with Waltham Forest, Redbridge, and Newham (WREN 
Group) to procure nightly let and leased accommodation to meet our needs.  
 
The DPS has been running for approximately 3 years and provides us with a 
fully procurement compliant platform as covers accreditation for suppliers, 
transparency in pricing, and full compliance for properties in relation to gas, 
electric and EPC certificates. We are currently in the process of re procuring 
the DPS. 
 
The system also provides a consolidated payment service where Enfield pay 
one payment for each scheme and the DPS pays all our individual suppliers. 

Page 4



5 
 

There are cost benefits both from a staffing and transparency in pricing 
perspectives.   
 
Children in Temporary Accommodation 
Enfield currently have nil households with children in B&B (shared 
accommodation) over 6 weeks. This is monitored on a weekly basis to 
ensure there is not an issue. Our use of shared accommodation has 
significantly reduced over this financial year.  We are also working as part of 
the Children’s Service Improvement Board to ensure that the suitability policy 
has proper regard to the needs of Children as highlighted in a recent report 
by the Children’s Services Commissioner. 
 
Nightly let inspections 
There is a high demand for nightly let accommodation through our service, 
the chart below shows the number of properties procured from April to 
October 2019. In-borough inspections are in most inspected with 24 to 48 
hours of procurement as we generally procure the properties on the day 
required. 
 

       

Property 

Location

Properties 

Procured

Properties 

Inspected

Inspections 

Outstanding % Visited

out of borough 136 38 98 28%

In borough 377 373 4 99%

Total 513 411 102  
 
In relation to the out of borough placements we insist that photographs are 
uploaded prior to acceptance of the property by the procurement team in 
order that we are happy with the state and condition. 
 
During the period April to October 2019 a procurement visiting officer left our 
employment and we recruited a replacement. The backlog generated in the 
borough as you can see is almost up to date. This still proves to be a 
challenging area for us as most issues that arise regarding standards of 
accommodation usually manifest once the clients have been living in TA for a 
period of time. 
 
Housing Gateway Ltd (HGL) 
We work closely with Housing Gateway, Nick Martin acts as commissioner on 
behalf of the council and sits on the investment committee to ensure that HGL 
are meeting the needs of the council. 
 
HGL Mission: 
The Company’s refocused mission, in line with the Council’s Good Growth 
Housing strategy is:  
Housing Gateway provides quality housing for Enfield residents to help the 
Council end the use of Temporary Accommodation. 
 
Achievements to date: 

 Maintaining a property portfolio of 535 units, valued at £124m 

Page 5



6 
 

 Provided more than 695 families with quality accommodation and 
sustained tenancies 

 Provided the Council with total savings of £6.5m by reducing the 
reliance on temporary accommodation 

 Purchased homes to meet the specific needs of residents with 
additional challenges such as learning disabilities and improving the 
quality, availability and security of private rented accommodation for 
those at risk of homelessness.   

Portfolio Breakdown: 
 

                  

Property Type No. of Units
Total No. of 

units

Street Properties 299

Block purchases 207

Head lease units 24

LD properties 4

Development sites 1

Property Type No. of Units
Percentage 

of Portfolio

Studio 129 24%

1 bed 71 13%

2 bed 129 24%

3 bed 121 23%

4 bed 85 16%

Total 535 100%

535

Property Portfolio 

 
 
 
 
2. ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 
 
Supply issues 
Enfield has significant supply issues due to an escalated rental market, and 
competition from other local authorities who place in the borough. Looking at 
the Inter Borough Accommodation Agreement (IBAA) data for FY17/18 
Enfield received 44% of the available booked TA and PRS accommodation 
declared. For FY18/19 this figure dropped to 40% with the balance of 
properties utilised by 25 other London boroughs. 
 
Enfield made 453 out of borough placements in the last financial year, 
however 657 placements where made by other boroughs in the Enfield area. 
If we had more control over the supply of properties would be enabled to 
place more of our TA clients in the borough. 
 

Page 6



7 
 

We are under significant pressure in relation to high incentive payments paid 
to landlords and agents in our area by other boroughs. Our approach to this 
has been to lead the setting of incentive rates across London in conjunction 
with London Councils so that we are not outbid in the Enfield area. 
 
Through the call for evidence request in relation to the Homeless Reduction 
Act from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) we have provided the following feedback: 
 

 Ban the use of landlord/agent incentives payments 
o Enable tenants to take responsibility for a deposit and rent in 

advance, as tenants do in the professional private rented market   
o Give tenants more choice in the market and the ability to move 

without further assistance from the local authority 

 Availability of more affordable private rented accommodation 
o Bridge the gap between the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) and 

market rents 
o Pair increases in LHA with rent capping - In our experience 

increases in LHA trigger landlords/agents within our market to 
increase their rental charges 

 
TA Movement from out of borough to in borough  
We have received pressure recently from Harlow in relation to placements of 
homeless families in the area. We currently have 150 placements in Harlow, 
this includes Greenway House owned by Housing Gateway but leased to the 
council. An agreement has been made with Harlow to vacate a block of flats 
in the centre within the next 6 months. 
 
The issue with widescale movement of households in this circumstance is 
finding the available stock in the Enfield area. There are also a proportion of 
households who do not wish to return to Enfield. 
 
We are in the process of commissioning a report to show how many 
households are currently placed by other local authorities in the Enfield area. 
This will show us the number of both TA placements, and social services 
placements. This will help us to build a strategy for how we address this 
issue with other local authorities with the aim to increase the use of our own 
PRS stock. 
 
We are one of the lead boroughs currently working with the Local 
Government Association (LGA) in relation to how we can improve 
communication between local authorities with the aim to make responsible 
placements when out of the local authority boundaries. 
 
3.          NEXT STEPS  
 
Restructure of Temporary Accommodation Services 
 
The TA procurement team have now moved to Housing & Regeneration with 
effect from 1st October 2019. It is proposed that this team will also encompass 

Page 7



8 
 

TA Property Management, TA Allocations, and all associated business support 
functions. 
 
The benefits of this are that there is one lead across TA forming a more 
cohesive/efficient service.  There are efficiency targets established for 2020/21 
which will be enabled through this management arrangement. 
 
 
New service model for TA and Homelessness 
We are in the process of redesigning the Homelessness and TA service offer 
to assist in driving down homelessness demand, reducing the number or 
families who are living in TA, and providing a more efficient, early intervention 
and customer focused service as follows: 
 

 Engaging with the market to signal our needs earlier 

 Better use of data to intervene earlier and stop risks from escalating 

 Partnering with PRS Landlords – seeing them as part of the solution, 

thus driving a mature Private Rented Sector 

 More information and advice so people can make informed decisions 

when in challenging circumstances 

 Advisory Service working across the borough – libraries, information 

points 

 Equipping tenants for success with skills and training needed to sustain 

future tenancies in the PRS – set up of a housing academy for both 

tenants and landlords to support. 

 

Our ambition is to ensure there are no households in TA for more than 6 

months 

  
Housing Gateway 
 
Three-year objectives: 
1. Deliver demonstrably, good quality housing for residents through a variety 

of products suitable for residents on low to medium income levels.  Deliver 
increased housing supply to the Council with at least an additional 250 
units by 2022.   

2. Deliver savings to the Council of £1m pa, contributing to the Council’s 
financial pressures arising from the shortfall in the provision of temporary 
accommodation. 

 
3. Ensure a suitable financing structure for the company.  Either return 50% 

of post-tax profits to the Shareholder each year in the form of a dividend 
providing the Council with an additional cash injection or invest in 
additional housing to meet housing needs. 

 
Portfolio Expansion: 

 Increase the property portfolio by an additional 250 properties by 2022. 

Page 8



9 
 

 Develop a new business arm, managing a mixed tenure, leased 
portfolio of c. 800 units – Enfield Lets 

 Develop the Council’s build to rent products in future estate 
regeneration projects and programmes, initially focussing on Joyce and 
Snells, potential of 2000 build to rent properties 

 
 
Enfield Let 
We are investigating the viability of a social letting’s agency with a mixed rent 
model, LHA, intermediate, and an additional market rent option. Enfield have 
a potential pipeline of 2000+ build to rent properties requiring management, 
we are also on this basis looking at development of a shop front for further 
visibility.  
 
Capital letters  
This project is a collaboration between London boroughs working together to 
improve housing options for homeless households, funded by Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) - £39m over 3 years. 
There are 13 boroughs currently engaged, Enfield intend to join April 2020 
subject to cabinet approval. The aim of Capital Letters is to reduce 
competition between boroughs and assist with incentive costs. 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Homelessness in Enfield – A report by the Smith Institute 
(Attached document) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why is Enfield facing high levels of 

homelessness and what are the 

options for change?  
 

A report by the Smith Institute 

June 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 11



2 
 

 

Contents 
Preface .................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................................. 4 

1. Background ............................................................................................................................... 10 

2. The causes of homelessness ..................................................................................................... 11 

3. Poverty in Enfield ...................................................................................................................... 12 

4. Levels of homelessness ............................................................................................................. 13 

5. Homelessness and the PRS ....................................................................................................... 13 

6. Welfare reforms and the PRS.................................................................................................... 15 

7. Poverty and tenure in Enfield ................................................................................................... 16 

8. Low income PRS tenants driving homelessness ....................................................................... 19 

9. Potential drivers of homelessness ............................................................................................ 20 

10. Temporary accommodation ................................................................................................. 26 

11. Perspectives on the reasons for high levels of homelessness in Enfield and possible 

solutions from internal stakeholders ................................................................................................ 32 

12. Views of external stakeholders and partners ....................................................................... 34 

13. Views and experiences of clients at risk of becoming homeless or who have become 

homeless and are living in TA. .......................................................................................................... 37 

14. Options for change ................................................................................................................ 38 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 12



3 
 

Preface 
This report was commissioned by the London Borough of Enfield and completed between April and 

June 2019.  The Council wanted to know why Enfield has seen a sharp rise in the levels of 

homelessness (and temporary accommodation use), and on the basis of the evidence what are the 

options for step change.  

Through desk research, data analysis and interviews with internal and external stakeholders and 

residents themselves, this research seeks to answer the following questions: 

 To what extent might the prevention and relief strategies of other boroughs affect Enfield’s 

level of demand and subsequent temporary accommodation liabilities (e.g. robust 

gatekeeping, or promoting Enfield as a better alternative)? 

 To what extent is the Enfield housing market, the high level of privately rented homes and 

the actual or perceived opportunity for lower cost housing affecting increased demand? 

 To what extent might the Council’s policies of seeking to minimise out-of-borough 

placements attract new residents? 

 To what extent does the promotion of affordable, new housing supply in regeneration 

schemes including Meridian Water attract residents? 

 What could Enfield do to make a step change in homelessness prevention and the 

eradication of the use of TA? 

The first part of the report examines the background data on the rise of homelessness in the 

Borough and what it might be telling us about the drivers of homelessness in Enfield. The second 

part presents findings from the qualitative research examining perceptions about the problems and 

challenges facing those who are or about to become homeless. Based on the findings from data 

analysis and interviews, the final section of the report presents options for change that the Council 

may wish to consider.  

This report does not attempt to review or audit the existing service frameworks but rather to 

provide an overview of the causes, challenges and options Enfield Council should consider in 

achieving the goal of reducing homelessness and eliminating the use of temporary accommodation. 

We would like to offer our thanks to the staff at Enfield Council who gave up their time to support 

this project. 

  

Page 13



4 
 

Executive summary 
 

Main research findings  

 Enfield has experienced a rapid increase in homelessness (rising by 250% since 2011/12), 

and now has high levels even by London standards.  

 Enfield’s homelessness challenge appears rooted in the Private Rented Sector (PRS). The rise 

in homelessness is largely due to the failure of private tenancies. And the main driver is likely 

to have been welfare reforms which disproportionately affected tenants in the private 

sector (and Enfield’s PRS services high levels of tenants claiming Housing Benefit (HB)).  

 The changes to the London housing market alongside welfare reforms may mean that 

Enfield is a relatively more affordable place to live for those on low incomes (even if rents 

have risen). This could mean the Borough’s housing market is attracting lower income 

residents who are at greater risk of homelessness. The data suggests this to be the case, 

with Enfield being home to a growing proportion of London's HB/Universal Credit (UC) 

claimants in the PRS while inner London boroughs’ share is in decline.  

 Regardless of the causes this presents Enfield with a serious challenge. It is also a different 

challenge that inner London boroughs more associated with high levels of homelessness 

face because of lower levels of social housing. As a result of having large levels of 

homelessness, the Borough also has high levels of tenants in temporary accommodation 

(the third highest in the country), but not demonstrably out of line with others when 

comparing TA levels with levels of homelessness. The sheer level of homelessness and 

temporary accommodation and use of evictions by landlords demands a robust strategy and 

programmes for intervening early to reduce these numbers. The evidence from both the 

data (although not an outlier Enfield appears to be worse than average on certain measures) 

and interviews suggests there is room for improvement in how the council approaches 

homelessness prevention.  

 There is concern within the council that its policies were attracting homeless people to the 

Borough or encouraging homelessness. However, interviews with clients suggested there 

was no detectable pattern of people moving to Enfield to take advantage of a generous 

system and no evidence that people are becoming homeless with the expectation that they 

will access social housing.  

 What the research did find was that people felt there was a lack of information about the 

support available and the clients spoken to would have benefitted from information from 

the council earlier in the timeline of their journey into homelessness. This is an issue the 

Borough could seek to address as a top priority given the importance of intervening early to 

stop problems escalating.  

 The research highlighted two examples of other boroughs having a clear policy to help 

ensure residents are provided with clear information as early as possible. Croydon’s 

approach was to make it explicitly clear that when someone is presenting as homeless that 

they are advised that all roads lead to the PRS. Camden’s approach is to use the points 

system to provide an incentive not to become homeless by increasing the chances of 

securing a social tenancy.   

 Concerns within the Borough were voiced about the use of out-of-borough placements by 

neighbouring local authorities. Interviews with other boroughs suggested that all councils do 

this and it would ‘even itself out’. However, the data did suggest that surrounding boroughs 

Page 14



5 
 

resort to out of borough placements more often than Enfield but with the biggest inflows 

coming from inner London. 

 

Options for change 

Based on the evidence, the Borough may wish to consider a range of options big and small and 
aimed internally and externally. These include:  
 
Local action 
 

 Clearer policy and messaging: The examples of Croydon and Camden highlighted the different 

approaches the Borough could adopt. It is not possible to assess the efficacy of the approaches 

given the very different demographics and housing markets/social housing provision. However, 

the council may conclude that the Camden approach incentivises behaviour which will sustain 

tenancies while also providing residents with a better opportunity of securing a social tenancy 

which if achieved is likely to result in a more affordable and sustainable tenancy. Leaving aside 

the different policies, the message from the interviews was that the approach should be clear 

and consistent. This would support efforts to communicate what options are available to 

residents, landlords and third sector organisations as well as help manage expectations. At 

present some homeless households in Enfield do receive offers of council properties, but the 

approach is poorly communicated with Enfield residents facing an information vacuum when 

they face homelessness.  

 Invest to save: Examples were highlighted where prevention could produce savings for the 

council. The reverse of this was highlighted in one of the interviews with Enfield where it was 

stated that a 10% increase in homelessness could create a £6m budget pressure for the council.   

 Early intervention: The evidence from the interviews with tenants suggested that support would 

have been welcome earlier in the process. Additional, resources from within the Borough or 

central government could help with efforts to intervene early to avoid problems escalating.  

 Better engagement with landlords: some of the Enfield residents interviewed wanted support in 

speaking to and liaising with their landlord while the example of a staff member situated in the 

Job Centre Plus office suggested this could be effective and deliver savings.  

 Introduce a landlord licensing scheme: A borough-wide licensing scheme could help tackle 

homelessness as well as driving up standards in the PRS. The scheme could require landlords to 

undertake training, support the barring of ‘rogue’ landlords, provide invaluable information 

about the PRS to help the council actively engage with landlords on homelessness, build up 

relationships and enforce standards.  

 Working with the third sector: The council could consider how best to work with and support 

the third sector, either by greater liaison with the sector or direct funding for organisations to 

help provide information, support and advice on homelessness.  This could help prevent 

homelessness by intervening early amongst hard to reach groups who are often at highest risk of 

homelessness but also could support the council communicate its homelessness policies.  

 Stakeholder forum/homelessness panel: There were concerns about possible tensions between 

landlords and the Borough. To improve relationships, guide policy and disseminate information 

about the Borough’s approach the establishment of a Homelessness Prevention Board as 

consulted on by Government is recommended to be taken forward.  

Page 15



6 
 

 Best value TA: Enfield may wish to consider actively reducing the proportion of nightly paid 

accommodation which is not always a suitable form of accommodation and is more expensive, 

contributing more significantly to the deficit.  

 Joining Capital Letters, a pan-London procurement company (established by London Councils 

with MCHLG funding), could help drive down the use of nightly paid accommodation.  

 Pre-tenancy training: The interviews highlighted the importance of pre-tenancy training to 

sustaining tenancies and building trust with landlords. Additional and sustained funding could 

support this. 

 Withdrawal of incentives: A neighbouring borough suggested that a large proportion of its 

landlords renewed agreements without incentives. The view from Enfield was that paying 

incentives was not a widespread practice and was leading the way on agreeing pan London 

harmonisation of incentives. Nevertheless, the Borough may wish to explore whether further 

withdrawal of incentives to landlords could be possible.   

Changes beyond the borough 

 Longer term funding from central government:  The Council’s response to the Fairer Funding 

review for local government seeks long term funding to help the Borough tackle the problem in 

a strategic way. As Enfield has high levels of homelessness and household in TA it could also 

have a strong case for receiving more support under existing or new funding programmes.  

 Increasing LHA rates: The main reason behind the spike in homelessness appears to be changes 

in the Local Housing Allowance rates. Enfield could push for central government to reverse cuts 

to LHA rates.  

 More provision of social housing: Although not a short-term solution, provision of more 

affordable housing would help in the longer-term providing residents with more sustainable 

tenancies. This would require greater central government funding including to allow the Council 

to build more homes at social rent levels. 

 Strategic approach from the GLA: There is scope for the GLA to play a greater role in bringing 

boroughs together to foster collaboration that seeks to address the underlying causes of 

homelessness and need for temporary accommodation as well as the displacement of problems 

from one borough to another. This could be supported by the establishment of a GLA 

homelessness panel which could work in collaboration with any LGA initiative. 

 Additional temporary accommodation: The GLA could also provide additional support for new 

temporary accommodation, such as it did to establish the Pan-London Accommodation 

Collaborative Enterprise (PLACE) to acquire modular temporary accommodation.  Equally 

the Borough itself could also seek to provide additional support for its Housing Gateway to buy 

PRS accommodation to help discharge duties to maximise TA cost avoidance.  

 Partnership working: There appeared to be some scope for greater collaboration with 

neighbouring boroughs around co-operation on temporary accommodation procurement and 

harmonising incentive payments for temporary accommodation providers. 

 

 

 

Page 16



7 
 

Further details of the main findings 

Data analysis 

 Enfield has a relative high proportion of homelessness cases per resident compared with both 

London and England. This has not always been the case. However, since 2011/12 the Borough 

has seen a 250% increase compared with a 35% rise in London. 

 Poverty is central driver of homelessness. However, whilst the Borough has high levels of 

poverty levels, they are lower than other London boroughs where homelessness has not risen as 

sharply.  

 Instead, Enfield’s specific problems appear to be rooted in the private rented (PRS). The 

termination of assured shorthold tenancies lies behind the increase of homelessness across the 

country but has been a particular driver in Enfield. One of the reasons posited for the increase in 

the loss of PRS tenancies are changes to the LHA rates.  

 While Enfield does not have high levels (for London) of residents in the PRS, it does have large 

numbers of poorer residents living in the PRS. Comparisons of housing benefit claims in the 

Borough to the estimated number of households in the PRS suggest that almost seven in ten PRS 

households claim housing benefit in Enfield. This is the highest for London, and especially high 

compared with inner London highlighting the fact that the PRS in Enfield caters for lower income 

households compared with young professionals that might be found in central London. 

 This may lead to the likely conclusion that the rise in homelessness appears to be driven by the 

large number of people on low incomes in the Borough who live in the PRS. In other boroughs 

there is greater supply of social housing for poor residents and social tenants have been 

relatively better protected from changes to housing benefit cuts and welfare reforms more 

generally.  

 The Borough may also be experiencing increasing need because it has become a more affordable 

place to live (although prices have risen, they have not done so as much as in inner London) 

coupled with changes to LHA rates and wider welfare reforms. Indeed, while residents may face 

a large shortfall between LHA rates and rents it is not as large as in other areas. This could act as 

a pull factor for lower income Londoners not in social housing looking for relatively more 

affordable housing. This trend may be evident in the decline in the number of people in the PRS 

claiming housing support in inner London boroughs compared with Enfield. 

 So, while poverty is a central driver of homelessness, the recent trends suggest that it is being 

most acutely felt by those living in the PRS. As such, when comparing homelessness rates per 

LHA claimant homelessness rates in each London borough, Enfield is more in line with the 

average. This suggests that the main issue is the negative impact of welfare reforms coupled 

with the dynamics of London’s housing market rather than something the Borough is or isn’t 

doing.  

 Enfield also has higher rates of people in temporary accommodation than the England and 

London average. However, again when contextualised by the levels of homelessness it does not 

appear to be hugely out of line with London averages. But where there are differences is in the 

type of TA provided. When compared with London, Enfield has higher use of relatively more 

expensive nightly paid accommodation and less use of hostels which maybe more cost effective.  

 Where Enfield is slightly different is in the level of out of borough placements. It appears from 

the data that other boroughs place more households out of borough. The data suggests that 

Page 17



8 
 

Enfield is a net ‘importer’ of households from outer London but especially so from inner London 

although the borough places more households in neighbouring authorities to its north than it 

receives.  

 

Qualitative research 

 Our interviews show that internal stakeholders have a clear understanding of the main drivers of 

homelessness in Enfield; poverty, welfare changes and a lack of affordable housing.  

 Client interviews showed that people move to Enfield for a variety of personal reasons and it is a 

change in personal circumstances such as sickness, loss of employment, benefits changes or 

pregnancy that make private tenancies become unaffordable. There was no detectable pattern 

of people moving to Enfield to take advantage of a generous system. 

 It’s clear that many possible solutions to reduce the rate of homelessness are already known, 

especially the need to intervene earlier and more holistically in the lives of people in the PRS at 

risk of homelessness and prevent them from entering temporary accommodation. Similarly, 

there is recognition of the need to work more closely in partnership with landlords and agents 

and play a role in creating and sustaining tenancies. 

 However, some of the beliefs internal stakeholders hold about the causes of homelessness have 

been challenged by the external stakeholder interviews and more importantly by the client 

interviews. 

 Internal stakeholders expressed a belief that Enfield was seen as paternalistic and 

compassionate in comparison with other boroughs, which may be a cause behind people 

migrating to the Borough. Although clients have had positive face to face interactions with staff, 

we did not find further evidence of a perception of a paternalistic approach in the client 

interviews.  

 In addition, we did not find evidence that people are becoming homeless with the expectation 

that they will access social housing, although some people may aspire to a social tenancy once in 

a homelessness situation. For our interviewees the causes of homelessness were beyond their 

control to the extent that they had experienced significant life changes which had made their 

living situation untenable, or they had simply run out of road in the PRS, needing a move but 

unable to pay the rent of suitable properties. 

 We have also not found evidence from the client interviews that any specific third-party source 

of advice is giving consistently misleading or unhelpful direction to people at risk of becoming 

homeless.  

 We found there is a vacuum in terms of information about the support available and the clients 

we spoke to would certainly have benefitted from information from the council earlier in the 

timeline of their journey into homelessness. 

 In terms of the view that decisions made by other boroughs are disadvantaging Enfield’s 

position, this is disputed by the external stakeholders, who feel that the burden evens itself out 

over time. 

 There are some interesting examples of different ways of working from other boroughs that 

provide some options for change. It will also clearly be important to engage in sub regional and 

Page 18



9 
 

pan-London work, so the market dynamics do not further shift unfavourably towards Enfield. 

This could include lobbying central government. 

  

Page 19



10 
 

 

1. Background 
1.1 Enfield has high level of homelessness in the Borough relative to other London boroughs and 

much higher than the English average. 

 

Source: MHCLG, Local authorities’ action under the homelessness provision of the Housing Acts, 2017/18 

1.2 This was not always the case. In 2010 the number of households accepted as homeless and in 

priority need per thousand households was around the English average. Over that period 

there has been a significant increase in the Borough. 

  

Source: MHCLG, Local authorities’ action under the homelessness provision of the Housing Acts 

 

1.3 There are areas where Enfield appears to particularly stand out regarding homelessness cases. 

Looking at the reason for a loss of the last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief 

duty by the local authority, there are a high proportion that are due to the termination of an 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

Enfield London England

Numbers accepted as homeless and in priority 
need per thousand 

0% 50% 100% 150% 200% 250% 300%

Enfield

England

London

Percentage increase in the numbers per 
thousand residents that are accepted homeless 

and in priority need, 2010/11 to 2017/18 

Page 20



11 
 

assured shorthold tenancy. Second, there is a high proportion whose family or friends are no 

longer willing or able to accommodate them.  

Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief duty by local authority, 

England, April to June 2018 (cases as a proportion of residents) 

  

Total
1
 

Family and 
friends no 

longer willing 
or able to 

accommodate
2
 

Non -
violent 

relationshi
p 

breakdown 
with 

partner 

Violent 
relationshi

p 
breakdown 

with 
partner or 
associated 

persons 

Loss of rented 
or tied 

accommodatio
n due to: 

Termination of 
assured 

shorthold 
tenancy 

Loss of rented 
or tied 

accommodatio
n due to: 

Reasons other 
than 

termination of 
assured 

shorthold 
tenancy3 

Other 
reasons

4
 

England 0.25% 0.06% 0.02% 0.02% 0.06% 0.01% 0.08% 

London 0.34% 0.09% 0.01% 0.02% 0.07% 0.02% 0.13% 

Enfield 0.66% 0.19% 0.02% 0.04% 0.26% 0.02% 0.12% 
Source: MHCLG, Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief duty by local authority, England, April to June 

2018 

 

2. The causes of homelessness 
2.1 There is extensive literature on the link between poverty and homelessness – with the vast 

majority of people (but not all) experiencing homelessness being in poverty. Evidence from 

the UK and elsewhere suggests that those with lower social and economic capital are less able 

to ride out personal shocks such as the loss of employment and relationship breakdowns. 

Other academic work has suggested that it is long-term marginality in the labour market 

which causes homelessness rather than the sudden shock of redundancy.1 

2.2 The relationship between individual and structural causes of homelessness is complex. 

Structural issues around the labour and housing markets and welfare system interact with 

potential personal causes of homelessness; substance abuse, ill health and dysfunctional 

family relationships. And the relationship between these factors is not straightforward with 

structural poverty associated with health inequalities and relationship breakdown.  

2.3 Analysis by Bramley and Fitzpatrick into which groups face the biggest risks of homelessness, 

highlights those in tight housing markets face higher risks as alternative accommodation is 

harder to find. They also highlight the relationship with poverty. Their findings show that 

those in social housing are more likely to have experienced homelessness than those in the 

PRS.2 However, this may not point to a causal relationship between social housing and 

homelessness as historically those who are homeless have had effective rights to be housed in 

the social rented sector.  

                                                           
1
 For a full review see Johnsen, S and Watts, B Homelessness and poverty: reviewing the links (Heriot-Watt 

University, 2014) 
2
 Bramley, G and Fitzpatrick, S “Homelessness in the UK: Who is most at risk”, Housing Studies, Volume 33, 

2018 

Page 21



12 
 

2.4 There have been concerns about the recent welfare reforms leading to heightened risks of 

homelessness. These include: LHA caps particularly affecting London; Shared Accommodation 

Rate (SAR) affecting younger people in the PRS; and the bedroom tax. Tenants also face 

Universal Credit (UC) rollout. These may particularly affect those in the PRS, including the UC 

where there may be less forbearance from private landlords and less willingness to let to 

benefit claimants.  

2.5 Research for the Residential Landlords’ Association has suggested that the recent rise of 

homelessness from people in the PRS has been due to changes to LHA rates rather than length 

of tenancy.3  

2.6 In addition, while unemployment rates have remained relatively low, low income households 

have faced benefit sanctions and those working may be in precarious work or face sluggish 

wage growth. This may have a demographic component with younger people particularly 

affected by the slowdown in wage growth and more likely to live in the PRS.  

2.7 The current national data on homelessness suggests that tenancy breakdown is experienced 

most by those in the PRS. The data is not clearly cut in a binary way between PRS and the 

social rented sector but nevertheless shows that in April to June 2018 the highest number of 

people by accommodation type where an initial homelessness duty was owed were in the 

PRS. This accounted for 30% of cases: followed by living with family (23%), no fixed abode 

(11%), living with friends (10%), and social housing (9%). This would suggest that private 

rented sector is a specific issue nationally. This is further supported by the data on the loss of 

assured shorthold tenancies which accounts for large numbers entering homelessness.4 

Although it is not possible to hold for personal characteristics the data shows a rise in the 

numbers from the PRS in previous years (see section 4).  

2.8 To look at the link between PRS and homelessness a quick regression analysis using Family 

Resources Survey data into levels of evictions (not homelessness) was undertaken. The 

results, which hold for characteristics associated with evictions (income, employment status, 

region, ethnicity, housing benefit claimant), suggests that those in the PRS are 1.4 times more 

likely to have been evicted than those in the social rented sector.5  

 

3. Poverty in Enfield  
3.1 As the evidence suggests, poverty is widely accepted as a key driver of homelessness. Overall, 

Enfield is a local authority with higher than average rates of poverty and deprivation. 

3.2 In the Index of Multiple Deprivation (2015) Enfield is in the bottom 20% of the poorest local 

authorities, and the bottom 10% for both income and housing elements of the IMD.  

3.3 According to research by Laura Valadez-Martinez and Donald Hirsch, from the Centre for 

Research in Social Policy at Loughborough University Enfield has the 11th highest rate of child 

                                                           
3
 O’Leary, et al Homelessness and the Private Rented Sector (2018) 

4
 MHCLG, Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief duty by local authority and 

MHCLG, Accommodation at time of application for those owed a prevention or relief duty, England, April to 
June 2018 
5
 Analysis of FRS data: Office for National Statistics, Social and Vital Statistics Division, Department for Work 

and Pensions, National Centre for Social Research. (2019). Family Resources Survey, 2016-2017. UK Data 
Service. SN: 8336 

Page 22



13 
 

poverty in the country (39% of children).6 Figures used by the GLA are considerably lower at 

around 20%.7 

3.4 Half of areas in Enfield have rates of poverty that place them in the top quarter of areas for 

concentrations of poverty.8  

3.5 Analysis of Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings suggests that around a third of Enfield’s 

residents are paid below the London Living Wage. This compares with 22% for the capital as a 

whole.9  

3.6 Enfield has a higher unemployment rate (5%) compared with the rest of the country (4.3%). It 

also has a higher claimant count (3.1%) than London (2.6%) and Great Britain (2.7%).10  

3.7 Around a quarter of Enfield households claim housing benefit versus around 15% across 

England.11 

 

4. Levels of homelessness    
4.1 Enfield appears to have a high proportion of residents experiencing homelessness.12  

4.2 In total within Enfield there were 852 cases where there was an initial decision of 

homelessness duty owed. This is the 5th highest in absolute terms.  

4.3 When calculated as a proportion of households within the Borough it had the second highest 

proportion of any local authority behind only Southwark (0.67% versus 0.77%). This compares 

with 0.26% in England. 

4.4 Enfield has a high number of households who are made homeless after the loss of an assured 

shorthold tenancy. In total 340 households were made homeless, the second highest in 

absolute terms. As a proportion of homelessness cases it totalled 40% of cases – the 29th 

highest in England – and compares with 21% of cases for London.  

4.5 The data suggests that Enfield has a higher proportion of homelessness than might be 

expected given that while it is poorer than most areas it is not the poorest.  

5. Homelessness and the PRS 
5.1 Enfield also has a high proportion of households being made homeless from the PRS – the 

second highest in absolute numbers and the 14th by proportion of all cases.  As a proportion 

around half (48%) of cases are from the end of private tenancy (versus 30% in England). This 

compares with loss of social housing tenancy contributing 10% in England versus 5% in Enfield 

and no fixed abode (11% nationally versus 1% in Enfield). A similar proportion were living with 

their family (both 23%). 

5.2 The data also suggests that Enfield faces a specific challenge of homelessness that comes from 

residents in the PRS. The next section suggests that a reason for higher rates of homelessness 

in the Borough may be due in part to higher rates of poorer households in the PRS. 

                                                           
6
 End Child Poverty, Compilation of child poverty local indicators, update to September 2017 

7
 GLA, Children in Poverty 

8
 ONS, Households in Poverty estimates for middle layer super output areas, England & Wales, 2013/14 

9
 ONS, Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2018 

10
 NOMIS 

11
 Housing benefit data take from DWP, Stat-Xplore and compared with mid-year household estimates 

12
 Data taken from MHCLG Live Tables on Homelessness  

Page 23



14 
 

5.3 This can be observed as the level of change in the main reason for the loss of the last settled 

home for households found to be eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need 

during the quarter. The data highlights that the main areas where there has been an increase 

between 2010 and 2016 was the PRS, specifically the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy or 

rent arrears in the PRS. This is also found to be the case nationally and in London both of 

which explain around 70% of the increase in homelessness.  

Changes within Enfield, 2010-16 

    

Change 
(2010 – 
2016) 

Contribution 
to change 
(%) 

1. Parents no longer willing or 
able to accommodate 

  50 5% 
2. Other relatives or friends no 
longer willing or able to 
accommodate 

  66 7% 
3. Non-violent breakdown of 
relationship with partner 

  0 0% 
4. Violence a. Violent breakdown of 

relationship, involving partner 29 3% 
b. Violent breakdown of 

relationship involving associated 
persons 0 0% 

c. Racially motivated violence 0 0% 

d. Other forms of violence 0 0% 
5. Harassment, threats or 
intimidation 

a. Racially motivated harassment 0 0% 

b. Other forms of harassment 0 0% 
6. Mortgage arrears    -6 -1% 
7. Rent arrears on: a. Local authority or other public 

sector dwellings 0 0% 

b. Registered Provider dwellings 0 0% 

c. Private sector dwellings 43 5% 
8. Loss of rented or tied 
accommodation due to: 

a. Termination of assured 
shorthold tenancy 557 60% 

b. Reasons other than termination 
of assured shorthold tenancy 137 15% 

9. Required to leave 
accommodation by Home 
Office as asylum support   30 3% 
10. Left an institution or LA 
care 

a. Left prison/on remand 0 0% 

b. Left hospital 0 0% 

c. Left other institution or LA care 0 0% 
11. Other reason for loss of 
last settled home 

a. Left HM-Forces 0 0% 

b. Other reason 28 3% 
Total   930 100% 
Source: MHCLG, Statutory Homelessness, Detailed Local Authority Level Responses 

Page 24



15 
 

5.4 The data also highlights the problems are in the PRS with 20% of those owed a duty were due 

to service of valid Section 21 Notice. This compares with a London average of 7%.13 

 

6. Welfare reforms and the PRS 
6.1 The rise of homelessness from the PRS needs to be contextualised by welfare reforms, which 

are seen by many as a major cause for its rise.  

6.2 There have been specific welfare reforms which have affected those in low income 

households in the PRS. 

6.3 Initial reforms occurred in 2011 when the government changed LHA rates, reducing amounts 

households could claim from the 50th percentile house price in a broad rental market area to 

the 30th (so LHA would cover rental costs for properties in the bottom 30% by price) 

6.4 This was coupled with under 25s only being able to claim shared accommodation rates.  

6.5 LHA was further reduced in 2013 following reforms which uprated levels according to CPI 

rather than how much rents were actually rising by.  

6.6 In 2014 and 2015 rates increased by 1% again rather than in line with rent rises. 

6.7 In 2015 the shared accommodation rate for young people was extended to cover all those 

under 35.  

6.8 Since 2016 LHA rates have been further reduced by LHA being completely frozen until 2020.  

6.9 At the same time the benefit cap has been introduced which has particularly impacted private 

rented tenants, especially in London, because the amount they can claim in benefits is higher  

than social rents.  

6.10 There have been measures to mitigate these changes such as Targeted Affordability Funding 

which was focused on areas where rents were high. 

6.11 However, the overall underinvestment in LHA rates has meant the areas where households 

can reasonably afford to live has been reduced.14  

6.12 There have also been serious issues with the introduction of Universal Credit which has led to 

long periods that tenants have to wait before they receive any payment. This may affect all 

tenants, but social landlords are likely to show more forbearance than private landlords.  

 

  

                                                           
13

 MHCLG, Initial assessments of statutory homelessness duties owed, April – December 2018 
14

 See Chartered Institute of Housing, Missing the target: is Targeted Affordability Funding doing its job (2018) 

Page 25



16 
 

7. Poverty and tenure in Enfield  
7.1 The PRS has risen across England since the early 2000s, doubling from around 10% to 20% of 

the housing stock. This has come from both the decline in social housing and from lower levels 

of homeownership.15   

 

 

Source: MHCLG Live Table 104  

7.2 Enfield has also experienced the same phenomenon. Over the decade to 2016, households in 

the PRS rose from 13% to 22%. The rise of the PRS has been faster than for London as a whole 

with the proportion of households in the PRS rising by 61%. The Borough has a similar 

proportion of households renting privately to outer London and is lower than the inner 

London average and many nearby boroughs.   

  
Proportion of 
households in PRS 

Percentage increase 
since 2006  

Barnet 23.7 4% 

Camden 27.9 -1% 

Enfield 22.2 61% 

Haringey 26.6 63% 

Islington 31.5 81% 

Waltham 
Forest 32.2 71% 

Inner 29.2 24% 

Outer 22.9 48% 

London 25.6 36% 
Source: GLA, Housing tenure of households 

7.3 The table above shows that Enfield has around the outer London average level of PRS and 

below that of the inner London average. However, the makeup of tenants in the PRS in Enfield 

is very different to the London average. As the table below demonstrates, at the time of the 

last census, the proportion of Enfield’s PRS tenants who were economically active was lower 

                                                           
15

 MHCLG, Live Table 104  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

1
9

6
9

1
9

7
1

1
9

7
3

1
9

7
5

1
9

7
7

1
9

7
9

1
9

8
1

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
7

Housing stock by tenure, England 

Owner occupied Private rented Social housing

Page 26



17 
 

than any other London borough and had high concentrations of tenants who were 

unemployed.  

  

Proportion 
of private 
renters 
(HRP) 
economically 
active 

Proportion 
of private 
renters 
(HRP) 
unemployed   

Proportion of 
private renters 
(HRP) 
economically 
active 

Proportion 
of private 
renters 
(HRP) 
unemployed 

Enfield 64% 8% Haringey 79% 5% 

Barking and 
Dagenham 66% 8% London 79% 4% 

Bexley 68% 7% Ealing 79% 4% 

Havering 68% 7% Camden 79% 3% 

Redbridge 72% 6% Sutton 79% 5% 

Croydon 72% 7% 
Kingston upon 
Thames 80% 3% 

Hillingdon 75% 5% Hounslow 82% 3% 

Barnet 76% 5% Hackney 83% 5% 

Westminster 76% 3% Islington 83% 3% 

Brent 76% 6% 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 83% 3% 

Harrow 76% 4% Tower Hamlets 84% 3% 

Newham 76% 6% Southwark 85% 3% 

Bromley 77% 5% Lambeth 86% 4% 

Lewisham 78% 5% Merton 86% 3% 

Kensington and 
Chelsea 78% 3% 

Richmond upon 
Thames 86% 2% 

Waltham Forest 78% 5% City of London 88% 1% 

Greenwich 79% 5% Wandsworth 88% 2% 
Source: 2011 Census 

7.4 This can be seen in more up-to-date housing benefit data. We know from previous studies 

that housing benefit is good proxy for poverty.16 The table below shows, Enfield has the 

second highest number of PRS housing benefit claimants out of all the London boroughs. 

  

Number of 
housing benefit 
claimants in the 
PRS   

Number of housing 
benefit claimants in 
the PRS 

Brent 14,448 Merton 3,882 

Enfield 13,624 Westminster 3,765 

Barnet 12,770 Havering 3,721 

Haringey 10,357 Bexley 3,598 

Ealing 10,208 Hounslow 3,574 

Newham 9,598 Bromley 3,539 

Hackney 7,736 Camden 3,308 

                                                           
16

 Fenton, A Small-area measures of income poverty (LSE, 2013) 

Page 27



18 
 

Redbridge 7,397 Tower Hamlets 2,696 

Hillingdon 6,831 Kingston upon Thames 2,563 

Croydon 6,763 Islington 2,164 

Harrow 6,699 Sutton 2,037 

Lewisham 6,534 Richmond upon Thames 2,029 

Waltham Forest 5,299 Hammersmith and Fulham 1,731 

Wandsworth 4,504 Kensington and Chelsea 1,680 

Greenwich 4,465 Southwark 1,629 

Barking and 
Dagenham 4,341 

City of London 
26 

Lambeth 4,169     
Source: DWP, Stat-Explore. Figures are from November 2018 

7.5 This needs to be further contextualised by the size of the PRS in the boroughs. As a result, we 

can see when comparing households in the PRS with HB data that Enfield stands out (even if 

caution may be needed because of the difficulty quantifying household tenure) by some 

distance in the proportion of tenants in the PRS who are claiming HB.  

  

Proportion of private 
renters claiming housing 
benefit (2016)   

Proportion of private 
renters claiming 
housing benefit (2016) 

Enfield 69% Greenwich 28% 

Havering 49% Hounslow 26% 
Barking and 
Dagenham 49% Sutton 24% 

Brent 48% Waltham Forest 23% 

Barnet 47% Bromley 22% 

Haringey 47% Kingston upon Thames 21% 

Croydon 43% Lambeth 19% 

Bexley 38% Richmond upon Thames 18% 

Ealing 36% Wandsworth 17% 

Redbridge 35% 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 14% 

Harrow 34% Camden 13% 

Hillingdon 33% Kensington and Chelsea 12% 

Merton 31% Westminster 11% 

Hackney 31% Southwark 11% 

Lewisham 31% Tower Hamlets 10% 

Newham 30% Islington 8% 
Source: DWP, Stat-Explore (HB figures are from 2016) and GLA datastore, Household Tenure by Borough (2016 data) 

7.6 The data suggests that although the proportion of private renters is similar to the outer 

London average and below that of inner London, the Borough is likely to face higher rates of 

homelessness from the PRS because of who lives in it. Whilst the PRS in inner London 

boroughs may cater for wealthier tenants (i.e. young professionals) in Enfield just under seven 

in ten tenants appear to be claiming housing benefit.  

 

Page 28



19 
 

8. Low income PRS tenants driving homelessness  
8.1 The evidence thus far suggests: 

 Those in poverty face heightened risk of homelessness 

 Those in the PRS seem particularly at risk versus other tenures 

 Enfield has a higher rate of homelessness per head than most local authorities 

 Enfield has above average proportion of people in the PRS but is below average by 

London standards 

 However, the PRS in Enfield is largely servicing lower income residents 

8.2 This would suggest that Enfield may be experiencing higher rates of homelessness not from 

the local authority’s approach to homelessness but rather the composition and intersection of 

tenure and poverty in the Borough.  

8.3 Housing benefit data suggests that Enfield has the third highest number of claimants from the 

PRS of all local authorities in England and the 11th highest as a proportion of all housing 

benefit claims (54%).  

8.4 Using housing benefit data for a proxy for the number of households in poverty by tenure we 

can compare how well Enfield performs versus other local authorities.  

8.5 Of those local authorities for which data is available, as a proportion of PRS homelessness 

duty cases to PRS housing benefit claims, Enfield is around 99th highest out of 311 local 

authorities. Homelessness cases from the PRS make up around 2.25% of PRS claimants versus 

1.6% in England. 

8.6 Analysis of data on homelessness duties from the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy as a 

proportion of HB claimants in the PRS, shows that Enfield is 97th highest (0f 308) and is 1.3% of 

PRS claimants in Enfield versus 1.8% in England.  

8.7 Residents may also now be supported by the housing element of Universal Credit. When 

adding these claimants to those claiming housing benefit the figures remain similar with 

Enfield rates slightly worse than the English average. As the table below of London boroughs 

illustrates Enfield is not an outlier, and although it may be able to do better it is by no means 

the worst.  

 

  

Loss of 
assured 
shorthold 
tenancy as 
% of PRS  
UC/HB 
claimants 

PRS as % 
of PRS 
UC/HB 
claimants   

Loss of 
assured 
shorthold 
tenancy as 
% of PRS  
UC/HB 
claimants 

PRS as % 
of PRS 
UC/HB 
claimants 

Southwark 6.3% 2.6% Barking and Dagenham 1.4% 1.1% 

Havering 4.2% 3.2% England 1.4% 1.1% 

Hillingdon 2.9% 2.7% 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 1.4% 1.0% 

Lewisham 2.4% 1.7% Harrow 1.3% 0.7% 
Haringey 2.3% 1.4% Hounslow 1.2% 1.1% 
Tower Hamlets 2.2% 1.4% Sutton 1.2% 1.0% 

Page 29



20 
 

Bexley 2.2% 2.1% Hackney 1.2% 0.7% 
Enfield 2.1% 1.7% Bromley 1.2% 0.8% 
Ealing 1.8% 1.3% Newham 1.1% 1.0% 
Waltham Forest 1.7% 1.3% Brent 1.0% 0.3% 
Westminster 1.7% 0.6% Croydon 0.8% 0.3% 
Islington 1.6% 0.9% Kensington and Chelsea 0.8% 1.0% 
London 1.5% 1.0% Wandsworth 0.5% 0.4% 
Merton 1.5% 1.3% Camden 0.4% 0.3% 
Greenwich 1.5% 1.3% Barnet 0.3% 0.2% 
Lambeth 1.5% 0.8%       
Source: DWP, Stat-Xplore, MHCLG, Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief duty by local authority and 

Accommodation at time of application for those owed a prevention or relief duty, England, April to June 2018  

8.8 To further make the point an analysis of the relationship between levels of homelessness 

resulting from the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy by local authority and level of claims 

for LHA by local authority was undertaken. The results show that there is a statistically 

significant relationship and relatively strong correlation.   

  
Number of LHA 

claims 

Homeless 
from end 
of 
assured 
shorthold 
tenancy 

Pearson Correlation .755
**
 

Sig. (2-tailed) 0.000 

N 309 

 

9. Potential drivers of homelessness  
9.1 Homelessness in Enfield has increased over the past decade, although fallen back from its 

peak in 2015. Whilst the data from the previous year shows a decline, the number of 

households accepted as homeless and in priority need is well above the England average and 

significantly above the London average. Whereas in 2010-11 it was below both the English and 

London averages. The following section highlights potential structural drivers for this change. 

 

Source: MHCLG, Local authorities’ action under the homelessness provision of the Housing Acts 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

A
cc

ep
te

d
 p

er
 1

,0
0

0
 

N
u

m
b

er
 a

cc
ep

te
d

 

Numbers accepted as homelessness and in priority need 

Total (LH) Enfield (RH) England (RH) London (RH)

Page 30



21 
 

9.2 Population. The data above suggests that the rising levels of homelessness is not caused by 

population alone, with the proportion per households increasing. Nevertheless, population 

increases could partly explain a rise in the absolute increase. It could place additional stress on 

existing housing stock and increased reliance on the PRS if social rented housing has not kept 

pace with the population growth of poorer households. It is also likely that additional 

population growth is likely to mean additional resources are required in absolute terms. Since 

2010 ONS data suggest that the number of households in Enfield was 11% higher (in line with 

the London average) versus growth of 7% in England.  

9.3 Levels of acceptances in Enfield: One of the drivers of homeless acceptances could be the 

approach Enfield Council takes to accepting people as homelessness. However, in the London 

context Enfield is not outlier regarding the numbers presenting as homeless and the level of 

acceptances. As the table below shows Enfield is 12th regarding the proportion of households 

not owed a duty as a proportion of total initial assessments. 

  

No duty 
owed as 
proportion of 
initial 
assessments   

No duty 
owed as 
proportion of 
initial 
assessments 

Redbridge 0% Waltham Forest 5% 

Kingston upon Thames 0% Harrow 5% 

Newham 0% Barnet 7% 

Bexley 1% Hammersmith & Fulham 8% 

Havering 1% Brent 8% 

Hillingdon 2% Tower Hamlets 11% 

Southwark 2% Westminster 14% 

Kensington & Chelsea 2% Camden 15% 

Lewisham 2% Wandsworth 15% 

Lambeth 2% Barking & Dagenham 18% 

Ealing 2% Haringey 18% 

Enfield 2% Hounslow 20% 

Croydon 3% Sutton 26% 

Islington 4% Greenwich 31% 

Hackney 4% Richmond upon Thames 32% 

Merton 4% Bromley 47% 

 

Source: MHCLG, Initial assessments of statutory homelessness duties owed, April-June and 

July-September 2018 

Note: In the cases of Richmond and Redbridge only one quarter of data was available  

9.4 Changes in rates of poverty and deprivation. Increased levels of poverty in the Borough could 

be driving homelessness. Enfield has moved from London’s 14th most deprived borough in 

2010 to the 12th most in 2015.17 It has also seen a rise in low pay rates from 17% to 19% 

                                                           
17

 MHCLG, English Indices of Deprivation, 2015 and 2010 – rank of average score 

Page 31



22 
 

between 2010 and 2018.18 The number of residents claiming housing benefit between March 

2010 and March 2018 has risen by 15% whereas in England it has fallen by around 10%.19  

9.5 Increased reliance on the PRS. As the population has grown there may have been more 

reliance on the PRS where tenancies are less secure and rents higher. This is evident in Enfield 

and can be seen through housing benefit data. Between 2010 and 2018 the proportion of 

housing benefit claimants in the PRS increased by 7 percentage points. As the data has shown, 

Enfield has a high proportion of poorer residents living in the PRS. Those in the PRS are more 

likely to have their tenancy ended. Therefore, areas with higher rates of poorer people in the 

PRS could be more susceptible to higher rates of homelessness and experience the impact of 

other changes (welfare, housing market, labour market) more acutely. This could also be 

driven by the tenure shift within the Borough away from homeownership to the PRS (meaning 

that the housing stock is catering for different types of households).  

9.6 Lack of social housing. According to MHLCG figures, social landlord stock declined by 1% in 

the Enfield between 2010 and 2017.20 As such, poorer residents in Enfield are more reliant on 

the PRS than other areas. Enfield has historically had a lower proportion of households in 

social housing than the London average (currently around 20% versus 23% for the capital).21 

While social housing may act as a pull factor for poorer tenants, it could also ensure that those 

on lower incomes have lower rents and more secure tenancies. There has been a decline in 

the rate of lettings to new tenants and analysis of data has suggests there has been an overall 

decline in the proportion of lettings to homeless people.22 In addition, those in poverty in 

London have become more likely to live in the PRS.23 This means that those on low incomes 

may be increasingly likely to seek more affordable housing in areas where rents are lowest 

(see below), especially as a result of welfare reforms. Enfield’s low level of social housing 

provision for its demographic profile is also evident in the data below which compares 

provision as a proportion of child poverty rates.  

  

Proportion 
of 
residents 
in social 
housing 
stock 

Child 
poverty 
as a 
proportion 
of social 
housing 
stock   

Proportion 
of 
residents 
in social 
housing 
stock 

Child 
poverty 
as a 
proportion 
of social 
housing 
stock 

Redbridge 9.8 113% 
Richmond upon 
Thames 8.2 49% 

Harrow 8.0 111% Kingston upon Thames 12.6 48% 

Ealing 14.2 86% Wandsworth 16.6 48% 

Waltham Forest 16.7 82% Lewisham 27.6 46% 

Enfield 19.9 81% Haringey 29.3 46% 

Barking and 
Dagenham 29.3 73% Tower Hamlets 39.2 43% 

Bexley 12.9 72% Hounslow 22.2 43% 

                                                           
18

 Analysis of Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings data, low pay is defined as two thirds of median hourly 
earnings for all employees 
19

 DWP, Stat-Xplore 
20

 MHCLG, Live Table 100 
21

 GLA, Housing tenure of households – 2016 data based on the ONS, Annual Population Survey dataset 
22

 Fitzpatrick, S et al, The homelessness monitor: England 2018 (Crisis/JRF, 2018) 
23

 See Hunter, P ‘The unspoken decline of outer London’ (2019) 

Page 32



23 
 

Brent 22.1 68% Greenwich 32.9 41% 

Hillingdon 15.3 67% Hackney 43.7 34% 

Croydon 15.1 66% Lambeth 33.8 31% 

Newham 26.5 63% Islington 37.6 31% 

Havering 15.4 60% Camden 36.7 27% 

Merton 13.4 57% Southwark 40.9 27% 

Bromley 12.2 56% 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 31.7 26% 

Barnet 14.8 56% Westminster 30.9 24% 

Sutton 11.4 51% 
Kensington and 
Chelsea 32.7 16% 

Sources: GLA, Children in Poverty and GLA, Household Tenure 

9.7 Impact of welfare reforms. Welfare reforms could have several impacts on homelessness in 

Enfield. 

 Overall level of need. Reforms may have increased deprivation - this would impact all 

residents in all areas.  

 Residents in Enfield are more affected by welfare reforms. This is largely due to the 

disproportionate impact of reforms on those in the PRS where high levels of Enfield’s 

poorest live. Reforms include changes to LHA rates making more residents poorer and 

making paying rent more difficult. It also includes the impact of Universal Credit, which 

will potentially make it more difficult for those in the PRS where landlords show less 

forbearance.  

 Push and pull factors. Although proportionately fewer residents in inner London may be 

affected by reformed LHA caps, those that are affected are severely impacted. This 

means they may move to lower cost areas (such as Enfield) adding to the levels of 

poorer residents in the Borough and living in the less secure PRS (see below).  

9.8 Different housing market. There are a number of potential drivers behind the rise of the PRS, 

including: accessing homeownership (issues raising a deposit, mortgage availability, lower 

interest rates driving higher prices, attractiveness of housing versus other assets for investors) 

and the decline of social housing (driven longer term by right to buy and the lack of 

investment in new social housing). However, there is a spatial dimension to these trends and 

to affordability within the capital.  

Although there are methodological shortcomings to the raw VOA rent data, comparing two 

bed properties gives a fairer comparison of rental prices. The table below shows that rents in 

Enfield are not the lowest. However, they are lower than neighbouring boroughs (with the 

exception of Waltham Forest where rents are the same).   

 

Area Median Area Median 

Bexley 1050 Ealing 1450 

Havering 1100 Merton 1450 

Sutton 1160 Brent 1500 

Barking and 
Dagenham 1200 Haringey 1500 

Croydon 1200 LONDON 1500 

Bromley 1225 
Richmond upon 
Thames 1595 

Page 33



24 
 

Hillingdon 1250 Lambeth 1600 

Hounslow 1250 Southwark 1600 

Redbridge 1250 Wandsworth 1672 

Enfield 1300 Tower Hamlets 1733 

Greenwich 1300 Inner London 1733 

Harrow 1300 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 1753 

Waltham Forest 1300 Hackney 1778 

Outer London 1300 Islington 1950 

Kingston upon 
Thames 1325 Camden 2058 

Barnet 1375 City of London 2383 

Lewisham 1400 Westminster 2492 

Newham 1400 
Kensington and 
Chelsea 2817 

Source: VOA, Private Rental Market Statistics 

Data on rent levels over the longer term is not readily available. However, there is a close 

relationship between rents and house prices. Examination of house prices reveals that 

average prices in Enfield are lower than average in London. The data also shows that the 

Borough has become relatively more affordable in comparison with other boroughs. For 

example, while in 1995 the average property in Enfield was 93% of that in Haringey today it is 

72%. This suggests that the Borough is relatively more affordable than surrounding boroughs 

and has become more so with time. As poorer people have become more reliant on the PRS 

this could be a significant driver for households to locate in outer London areas such as 

Enfield.  

 Enfield prices as a proportion of prices in other areas 

  Feb-95 Feb-19 

Barnet 79% 75% 

Camden 61% 46% 

Haringey 93% 72% 

Islington 78% 62% 

Waltham Forest 121% 92% 

Inner 96% 71% 

Outer 100% 94% 

London 101% 86% 
Source: ONS, House Price Index 

9.9 LHA and housing costs. Another driver is that LHA rates. The table below shows the shortfalls 

that tenants face.  

 

Bedroom 

Size 

Enfield Social 

Rent 2019/20  

London 

affordable rent 

2019/20 

Lower quartile 

private rented 

sector 

Median private 

rented sector 

Local Housing 

Allowance 

2019/20 

1 bed  91.24 150.03 231 242 212.42 

2 bed  101.17 158.84 288 300 263.72 

Page 34



25 
 

3 bed  111.39 167.67 340 368 325.46 

4 bed  117.51 176.49 404 462 389.72 

 

 

LHA rates could potentially be displacing lower income households into Enfield’s PRS. As the 

table below shows the shortfall between LHA rates and lower quartile rents is lowest in 

Enfield meaning that it could attract lower income households as fewer resources are needed 

to make up the shortfall between HB and rents.  

 

  

Weekly shortfall 
between LQ rents and 
LHA rate, two bed 
property 

 BRMA 

Enfield -£26 Outer North London 

Barnet -£42 North West London 

Hackney -£37 Central London 

Haringey -£60 Outer North London 

Waltham 
Forest -£41 

Outer East London 

Islington -£60 Central London 

Camden -£105 Central London 

 

Source: VOA, Private Rental Market Statistics and VOA, LHA Rates 

NB some boroughs have more than one BRMA which would impact the level of shortfall  

9.10 Increases in housing cost support in the PRS. An indication of the relative growth in the 

numbers of lower income households in the PRS in Enfield can be observed in the table below. 

The data highlights that in Enfield there has been a 23% increase in the number of households 

in the PRS claiming housing support – the biggest increase of any borough. And overall the 8% 

of PRS claims for housing benefit/Universal Credit are in Enfield – again a higher proportion 

than any other borough.  

  

Percentag
e change 
in the 
number of 
PRS 
claiming 
HB/UC 

Proportio
n of 
London's 
HB/UC 
claimants 
(2011) 

Proportio
n of 
London's 
HB/UC 
claimants 
(2018)   

Percentag
e change 
in the 
number of 
PRS 
claiming 
HB/UC 

Proportio
n of 
London's 
HB/UC 
claimants 
(2011) 

Proportio
n of 
London's 
HB/UC 
claimants 
(2018) 

Enfield 23% 6.0% 7.8% Haringey -11% 5.1% 4.9% 

Barnet 20% 5.3% 6.7% Hackney -13% 3.7% 3.5% 

Hounslow 18% 2.6% 3.3% Bromley -19% 2.1% 1.8% 

Ealing 
12% 4.8% 5.7% 

Wandsworth 
-21% 3.0% 2.5% 

Sutton 
9% 1.7% 2.0% 

Lewisham 
-21% 4.2% 3.5% 

Hillingdon 8% 2.9% 3.3% Merton -21% 3.0% 2.5% 

Page 35



26 
 

Havering 

6% 1.7% 1.9% 

Hammersmit
h and 
Fulham -23% 1.7% 1.4% 

Harrow 
5% 3.3% 3.7% 

Southwark 
-23% 1.9% 1.5% 

Brent 5% 6.0% 6.7% Camden -24% 1.9% 1.5% 

Redbridge 
1% 3.7% 4.0% 

Lambeth 
-25% 3.2% 2.5% 

Greenwic
h 0% 2.1% 2.2% 

Islington 
-32% 1.5% 1.1% 

Newham 
0% 4.9% 5.3% 

Waltham 
Forest -32% 4.0% 2.8% 

Kingston 
upon 
Thames -2% 1.4% 1.4% 

Kensington 
and Chelsea 

-41% 1.6% 1.0% 

Barking 
and 
Dagenha
m -4% 2.5% 2.5% 

Westminster 

-46% 3.2% 1.8% 

Croydon 
-8% 6.2% 6.1% 

City of 
London -53% 0.0% 0.0% 

Bexley -8% 1.8% 1.7% Inner -20% 38.0% 32.5% 

Richmond 
upon 
Thames -9% 1.1% 1.1% Outer 2% 62.0% 67.5% 

Tower 
Hamlets -9% 2.0% 1.9%         
Source: DWP Stat-Xplore, April 2011 and April 2018  

 

10. Temporary accommodation   
10.1 In the short-term temporary accommodation is used to meet acute housing needs. Across 

England there has been a steady rise in the number of households in temporary 

accommodation – increasing from 50,000 households in 2010 to around 80,000 in 2018.  

 

Source: MHCLG, Households in temporary accommodation 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total number of households in TA 

Page 36



27 
 

10.2 Enfield has the third highest level of households in temporary accommodation in England. In 

Enfield 26 households per 1000 are in temporary accommodation– this compares with the 

London average 15 and English average of 4.  

10.3 The Borough has the second highest number of households in temporary accommodation 

(3,466) and second highest for the number of children in TA (2,700) of any local authority (it 

has more households with children in temporary accommodation than the West Midlands 

combined).  

10.4 Enfield is particularly reliant on nightly paid, privately managed accommodation and has lower 

levels in others forms of temporary accommodation.  

  

Bed and 
breakfast 
hotels 

Nightly paid, 
privately 
managed 
accommodation, 
self-contained 

Hostels 
(including 
reception 
centres 
and 
emergency 
units and 
refuges) 

Private sector 
accommodation 
leased by 
authority or 
leased or 
managed by a 
registered 
provider 

Local 
authority or 
Housing 
association 
stock 

Any other type 
of temporary 
accommodation 
(including 
private 
landlord) 

Enfield 2% 57% 0% 39% 0% 2% 

England 8% 26% 7% 31% 19% 9% 

London 5% 31% 6% 37% 13% 8% 
Source: MHCLG, Households in temporary accommodation, April to June 2018 

10.5 The household composition of those in temporary accommodation will also be an important 

factor when deciding what types of TA is needed. Around three quarters (78%) of households 

in TA have children, which is the same as the London average. Where there are differences are 

in the type of accommodation TA people are placed in. Clearly, some forms of TA are better 

than others, but some forms may offer better value of money for certain types of households. 

For example, Ealing council found in 2015 that the weekly subsidy shortfall the council had to 

meet was £242 for B&B accommodation and £136 for annex accommodation whereas hostels 

were cost neutral.24 

 

  Without children With children 

  London Enfield London Enfield 

Bed and breakfast hotels (including shared annexes) 14% 3% 1% 1% 

Nightly paid, privately managed accommodation, self-
contained 26% 61% 33% 56% 

Hostels (including reception centres and emergency units 
and refuges) 9% 0% 4% 0% 

Private sector accommodation leased by your authority 
or leased or managed by a registered provider 30% 31% 40% 41% 

Local authority or Housing association (LA/HA) stock 13% 0% 13% 0% 

Any other type of temporary accommodation (including 
private landlord and not know) 9% 5% 8% 2% 

  

 

                                                           
24

 Ealing, Proposals for reducing emergency accommodation costs, 24
th

 November 2015  

Page 37



28 
 

10.6 The level of temporary accommodation in Enfield is high but is not necessarily that high when 

compared with the rates of homelessness. Using MHCLG data on levels of households 

accepted as homeless and in priority need and comparing it to the number of households in 

temporary accommodation we can see that Enfield again is not an outlier. Instead, it suggests 

that temporary accommodation numbers may be routed in the high levels of homelessness, 

which itself is driven by high numbers of poorer residents in the PRS. 

  

Numbers 
accepted as 
being 
homeless 
and in 
priority need 

Total in 
temporary 
accommodation Ratio   

Numbers 
accepted 
as being 
homeless 
and in 
priority 
need 

Total in 
temporary 
accommodation Ratio 

Haringey 395 2943 7.5 Lewisham 614 1944 3.2 

Barnet 444 2579 5.8 
Kensington 
and Chelsea 709 2235 3.2 

Hammersmith 
and Fulham 249 1402 5.6 Hackney 949 2861 3.0 

Westminster 454 2521 5.6 Hounslow 247 703 2.8 

Tower Hamlets 437 2201 5.0 Havering 330 924 2.8 

Southwark 509 2336 4.6 Harrow 307 825 2.7 

Brent 536 2450 4.6 Croydon 749 2005 2.7 

Redbridge 497 2270 4.6 Bexley 500 1234 2.5 

Lambeth 467 2101 4.5 Sutton 231 569 2.5 

Newham 1143 4892 4.3 Bromley 630 1522 2.4 

Camden 94 395 4.2 City of London 7 15 2.1 

Enfield 786 3276 4.2 Wandsworth 822 1761 2.1 

Waltham Forest 586 2235 3.8 Hillingdon 264 533 2.0 

Kingston upon 
Thames 190 706 3.7 

Richmond 
upon Thames 207 282 1.4 

Barking and 
Dagenham 512 1876 3.7 Merton 122 165 1.4 

Islington 223 745 3.3 Greenwich 562 655 1.2 

Ealing 698 2277 3.3         
Source: MHCLG, Local authorities' action under the homelessness provisions of the 1985 and 1996 Housing Acts 

10.7 This relationship between homelessness rates and numbers in temporary accommodation can 

be shown when correlating the two by local authority. Here we see a statistically significant 

relationship and a relatively moderate correlation between the two, with other factors such as 

levels of affordable housing to place households into likely also to be an important factor. 

  Temporary Accommodation 

Homeless Pearson Correlation .486
**
 

Sig. (2-tailed) 0.000 

N 285 

  

10.8 Analysis by the LSE shows that spending in Enfield on TA is high – the third highest within 

London. However, income too is high meaning that the operational loss compared with 

expenditure is relatively low (4th lowest). This means that the net cost to the council is less 

Page 38



29 
 

than others. Nevertheless, because of the sheer numbers in TA means the bill still stands at 

£7.9m for 2018/19 – the 12th highest in London.  

10.9 What is clear from the table is that London local authorities are spending more on TA than 

other local authorities across the country. 

Borough 18/19 Exp 18/19 Income 

% 

Operational 

loss over 

Expenditure 

18/19 Net 

Spend 

No. of 

households 

in TA 

Net 

Cost of 

TA per 

unit 

Camden 

         

17,694,084  -6,451,279  

                          

64  

                  

11,242,805  

                        

622  

                   

18,075  

Richmond upon 

Thames 

           

6,475,000  -3,945,000  

                          

39  

                    

2,530,000  

                        

296  

                     

8,547  

Hammersmith & 

Fulham 

         

29,557,000  -18,053,000  

                          

39  

                  

11,504,000  

                    

1,512  

                     

7,608  

Bromley 

         

22,244,000  -13,850,000  

                          

38  

                    

8,394,000  

                    

1,560  

                     

5,381  

Hillingdon 

           

6,995,411  -4,445,233  

                          

36  

                    

2,550,178  

                           

-    

                            

-    

Bexley 

         

22,124,414  -14,373,000  

                          

35  

                    

7,751,414  

                    

1,385  

                     

5,597  

Lambeth - 

Consolidated 

         

45,502,421  -30,366,269  

                          

33  

                  

15,136,152  

                    

2,910  

                     

5,201  

Westminster 

         

73,250,082  -50,832,442  

                          

31  

                  

22,417,640  

                    

2,629  

                     

8,527  

Southwark 

         

32,505,000  -22,872,000  

                          

30  

                    

9,633,000  

                    

2,618  

                     

3,679  

Harrow 

         

14,936,000  -10,717,000  

                          

28  

                    

4,219,000  

                    

1,410  

                     

2,992  

Merton 

           

4,058,065  -3,018,786  

                          

26  

                    

1,039,279  

                        

170  

                     

6,113  

Islington 

         

15,069,895  -11,596,307  

                          

23  

                    

3,473,588  

                        

655  

                     

5,303  

Ealing 

         

48,836,908  -37,827,174  

                          

23  

                  

11,009,734  

                    

2,720  

                     

4,048  

Sutton 

           

5,989,986  -4,643,977  

                          

22  

                    

1,346,009  

                        

597  

                     

2,255  

Kensington & 

Chelsea 

         

47,121,100  -36,855,100  

                          

22  

                  

10,266,000  

                    

2,107  

                     

4,872  

Wandsworth 
         

-19,686,685  
                                                                                       

Page 39



30 
 

25,160,132  22  5,473,447  1,992  2,748  

Barnet 

         

32,869,000  -25,794,000  

                          

22  

                    

7,075,000  

                    

2,630  

                     

2,690  

Havering 

         

14,858,683  -11,770,637  

                          

21  

                    

3,088,046  

                        

900  

                     

3,431  

Kingston upon 

Thames 

         

11,374,866  -9,068,394  

                          

20  

                    

2,306,472  

                        

687  

                     

3,357  

Haringey 

         

49,957,332  -40,129,264  

                          

20  

                    

9,828,068  

                    

2,961  

                     

3,319  

Hackney 

         

41,596,073  -33,635,729  

                          

19  

                    

7,960,344  

                    

2,464  

                     

3,231  

Redbridge 

         

42,662,590  -34,885,025  

                          

18  

                    

7,777,565  

                    

2,388  

                     

3,257  

Barking & 

Dagenham 

         

27,377,281  -22,738,223  

                          

17  

                    

4,639,058  

                    

1,857  

                     

2,498  

Hounslow 

         

11,378,000  -9,554,000  

                          

16  

                    

1,824,000  

                        

614  

                     

2,971  

Greenwich 

         

11,191,265  -9,423,748  

                          

16  

                    

1,767,517  

                        

821  

                     

2,153  

Newham 

         

82,563,525  -69,991,201  

                          

15  

                  

12,572,324  

                    

5,231  

                     

2,403  

Lewisham 

         

23,334,600  -20,014,000  

                          

14  

                    

3,320,600  

                    

2,056  

                     

1,615  

Croydon 

         

32,944,977  -28,485,780  

                          

14  

                    

4,459,197  

                    

2,052  

                     

2,173  

Enfield 

         

66,252,123  -58,372,145  

                          

12  

                    

7,878,790  

                    

3,410  

                     

2,310  

Waltham Forest 

         

37,896,496  -33,907,289  

                          

11  

                    

3,989,207  

                    

1,882  

                     

2,120  

Tower Hamlets 

         

39,180,409  -37,268,771  

                            

5  

                    

1,911,638  

                    

2,432  

                         

786  

Brent 

         

40,709,594  -43,115,137  

-                          

6  

-                  

2,405,543  

                    

2,250  

-                   

1,069  

 

10.10 There are concerns about the level of out-of-borough placements. Although it is not possible 

to ascertain from publicly available government data the location of those placed out of 

borough, the data does show that Enfield places far fewer households out of borough than its 

neighbouring authorities. As such it might be assumed that Enfield is net receiver of 

households in temporary accommodation within the Borough. 

 

Page 40



31 
 

  

Numbers 
in TA 

Out of 
borough 

Proportion 
of 
placements 
out of 
borough to 
number in 
TA within 
area 

Numbers in 
TA 

Out of 
borough 

Proportion 
of 
placements 
out of 
borough to 
number in 
TA within 
area   

Kensington & 
Chelsea 2,372 1,823 77% 

Newham 
4,979 1,783 36% 

Bromley 1,604 1,038 65% Hackney 2,988 1,050 35% 

Lambeth 
2,202 1,300 59% 

Wandsworth 
1,743 554 32% 

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

1,400 784 56% 

City of 
London 

9 3 30% 

Westminster 
2,554 1,343 53% 

Lewisham 
2,066 570 28% 

Waltham 
Forest 2,311 1,214 53% 

England 
83,240 22,857 27% 

Camden 
494 249 51% 

Barking & 
Dagenham 1,766 469 27% 

Redbridge 2,330 1,086 47% Enfield 3,501 653 19% 

Greenwich 817 380 46% Harrow 936 168 18% 

Tower 
Hamlets 2,600 1,196 46% 

Sutton 
571 102 18% 

Richmond 
upon Thames 

234 98 42% 

Croydon 

1,791 270 15% 

Haringey 2,970 1,240 42% Hillingdon 458 31 7% 

Southwark 2,479 1,034 42% Hounslow 654 37 6% 

Merton 144 58 40% Havering 883 46 5% 

Barnet 2,400 967 40% Brent 2,338 104 4% 

Ealing 2,202 836 38% Bexley 1,375 0 0% 

Islington 

661 245 37% 

Kingston 
upon 
Thames 766 0 0% 

London 56,497 20,437 36%         
 Source: MHCLG, Households in temporary accommodation, April – December 2018, quarterly average in some instances only two 

quarters were available the average for those two quarters is used 

10.11 This was confirmed by data provided by Enfield (covering slightly different period 2017/18 

financial year and the data did not cover all units) which highlights where they were placing 

households in TA out of borough and which boroughs are placing households in Enfield. In 

total the borough was receiving 250 households more than it was placing out of borough.  

Page 41



32 
 

  Numbers in TA 

Out of Enfield 494 

Into Enfield 744 

Net into Enfield 250 

 

10.12 The data also revealed in some cases there was not insignificant flows into and out of Enfield 

from the same borough. Such cases may suggest there could be room for coordination to 

reduce out of borough placements where it means the household is closer to their local 

community. It also highlighted that the biggest net inflow to the borough was coming from 

inner London boroughs (as defined by London Councils). 

  Net flow into Enfield 

Inner London 232 

Outer London 120 

Outside London -102 

 

11. Perspectives on the reasons for high levels of homelessness in Enfield and 

possible solutions from internal stakeholders  

11.1 We conducted six interviews with internal stakeholders in managerial positions at Enfield 

Council in which the issue of homelessness is a relevant consideration to varying degrees 

within their responsibilities. We also interviewed four senior officers with managerial 

responsibility for homelessness and temporary accommodation within their organisations. 

11.2 We found a commonly shared perception that Enfield takes a more paternalistic and 

compassionate approach to homelessness than other London Boroughs, who were believed to 

take a more business focussed approach. This was seen as a result of a wider culture of being 

paternalistic and compassionate in the Council as a whole, rather than particular to 

homelessness. This view was endorsed by a manager who has moved from another London 

borough in the last couple of years. This paternalistic approach is commonly believed by 

managers to encourage other London boroughs to gatekeep and pass people on to Enfield. 

There is also a belief that, perhaps as a result of this approach, Enfield sends messages which 

lead people to believe they can expect positive outcomes if they become homeless. 

11.3 As to the further evidence of a paternalistic approach, there is a perception amongst 

managers at Enfield that the expectations of people at risk of becoming homeless could be 

better managed in terms of the likelihood of securing social housing and the size, quality and 

location of temporary accommodation. There is also a feeling that when people are placed in 

temporary accommodation the Council could do more to move them into privately rented 

accommodation. 

11.4 There is also recognition that people choose to migrate to Enfield for a variety of reasons. For 

example, there is a large Turkish community, there are excellent transport links, relatively low 

rents in the PRS, nice parks and access to the countryside. Manager’s believe Enfield is seen as 

a nice place to live by people on lower incomes choosing where to settle. 

11.5 Managers recognise that lower income households who by definition cannot afford to buy 

property want to live in London and seek the lower rents than outer London’s PRS can offer 

whilst enjoying transport links to central locations. There is also a view that this includes a 

Page 42



33 
 

large number of households that are being displaced from inner London boroughs by rising 

rents in the PRS and reduced access to social housing. 

11.6 There are questions as to whether people at risk of becoming homeless are accessing 

information from third parties which is giving them a misleading view of the best way to 

manage their situation and the outcome they can expect. Do households avoid engaging early 

with the Council and leave it until the last minute to seek help because they believe it gives 

them the best chance of gaining the most favourable outcome (i.e. access to temporary 

accommodation as a gateway to social housing or long-term temporary accommodation in 

good locations within the Borough boundaries)? 

11.7 Managers also questioned whether Enfield’s policies are clear and robust enough to be 

applied consistently despite case by case challenges from individuals. Some argue that either 

the policies themselves, or how they are applied, may encourage people to ‘try their luck’ in 

Enfield. In short, is the decision-making process too complicated? 

11.8 Expectation management around future access to social housing is also cited as a problem. 

Some managers feel that people may believe that they have a greater chance of accessing 

social housing by becoming homeless in Enfield because the message from frontline staff that 

people are very unlikely to secure a social tenancy due to the low number of properties for 

social rent and the long waiting list -  may be undermined by the fact that families with low 

points do access socially rented accommodation, by being willing to bid for and accept the 

least desirable units, for example at the top of high rise blocks. 

11.9 Given the high level of PRS in the Borough and the important role of private landlords and 

agents in both enabling homelessness and providing solutions for homeless people, the 

relationship between the Council and the Borough’s landlords and agents is key. There is, 

however, a tension which needs to be resolved between the desire to increase the quality of 

PRS at the lower end of the market through schemes such as licensing and realigning 

incentives, whilst at the same time engaging more closely with landlords and agents to 

prevent evictions and help homeless households back into private tenancies.  

11.10 There is a perception that due to high demand, landlords and agents are able to pick and 

choose their tenants and will opt to evict in order to seek more lucrative arrangements, either 

by seeking less risky tenants who are not dependent on benefits or by converting their 

properties to nightly paid temporary accommodation or longer lease temporary 

accommodation, benefitting from golden handshakes. 

11.11 Managers recognise that as the local authority with the second highest rate of people on 

benefits in the PRS it is important to make the PRS viable for lower income families whilst 

recognising the difficulties caused by the LHA cap and Universal Credit. Landlords are thought 

to be reluctant to take households on Universal Credit because they do not have the same 

relationship with Job Centre Plus/DWP that they do with the Council through the Housing 

Benefit system. The relationship between Job Centre Plus/DWP and landlords and agents is 

therefore seen as a key barrier to reducing homelessness. There is a fear that unless this issue 

is resolved landlords may evict hundreds of tenants, and as Enfield has such high rates of 

claimants in the PRS the Council is disproportionately exposed to this risk. A 10% swing, 

pushing 2,000 more households into homelessness could create a £6m budget pressure. For 

this reason, managers argue that maintaining and extending pan-London work to harmonise 

rates for temporary accommodation are crucial in holding back the tide. 

Page 43



34 
 

11.12 There is also a widely held belief that neighbouring Boroughs are taking advantage of the 

lower PRS costs in Enfield to place homeless households or households at risk of becoming 

homeless, who then later become homeless with responsibility transferring to Enfield. There is 

also a shared belief that other boroughs are placing greater numbers of families in temporary 

accommodation out of borough than Enfield do, which has an impact on the availability of 

temporary accommodation for Enfield residents, forcing the Council to seek solutions further 

afield. 

11.13 In terms of out of Borough placements, most believe that because of the level of demand and 

the cost and supply issues, out of borough placements will always be part of the picture unless 

households have significant needs. Therefore, smart procurement of suitable accommodation 

outside London must be a priority.  

11.14 The North London sub group pilot was cited as an example of a way of working which can be 

effective in preventing homelessness and reducing TA costs. One staff member in Enfield 

situated in the Job Centre Plus office has prevented 60 households becoming homeless this 

year by working with landlords, saving the council circa £180,000. It was argued that investing 

in this way of working with a larger team and sustainable funding would further reduce 

homelessness and temporary accommodation costs, with just three staff possibly able to save 

in the region of £0.5m pa.  

12. Views of external stakeholders and partners 
12.1 The view from the North London Consortium is that Government policy has resulted in 

increasing the homelessness problem and shifted it towards Enfield, as a combination of low 

social housing stock, rising poverty and low pay and changes to the benefits system create 

‘the perfect storm’. There is a recognition that Enfield cannot tackle this alone and will need 

co-operation from neighbouring boroughs and across London to affect the market dynamics. 

There is also a call for changes in national government policy to move the dial on the push 

factors for low income households. Ending no-fault evictions may help.  

12.2 In terms of possible solutions, there is a question as to whether Enfield could have done more 

to invest in work with single homeless people with a clearer housing pathway offering a safety 

net, and whether the emerging Islington single homeless prevention, which focuses on 

mediation and support, may offer some useful ideas which could be used locally. Two 

boroughs from the North London Consortium have joined Capital Letters and joining remains 

an option for Enfield if there is a clear economic case for doing so. Further co-operation with 

neighbouring boroughs on temporary accommodation procurement is seen as a productive 

way forward by the consortium and there is a strong view that pan London co-operation will 

make a difference, including work on harmonising incentive payments for temporary 

accommodation providers across London to avoid neighbouring boroughs competing 

unnecessarily.  

12.3 Enfield is seen as having done well to source so much temporary accommodation within the 

Borough. In terms of widening supply in order to be able to move households out of 

temporary accommodation and as a Borough with a relatively large number of sites for 

development, Enfield is seen as well placed to trail blaze new initiatives, such as new methods 

of land use and modular construction. However, this will take time to come through. In the 

short-term there is a possible cliff edge in 2020 as the flexible homes support grant comes to 

an end. Enfield have hired staff to deal with the impact of the new legislation so in the view of 

the consortium it is a risk. They suggest that Enfield should consider lobbying central 

Page 44



35 
 

government, perhaps with London Councils, to make a case for continued funding given the 

level of need in the Borough. 

12.4 We spoke to two managers from a neighbouring borough. Their view is that Enfield gatekeep 

in the same way as other boroughs and as a result of putting up barriers are seeing people 

approach them as homeless very late on, making prevention more difficult. The Council have 

opted for a generic service in which one case worker will ‘run with your case’ rather than 

handing off between departments. They argue that this has speeded up decision making, 

reduced duplication and has enabled more holistic support, such as outreach for drug and 

alcohol problems, reducing the temporary accommodation spend. They also prioritise working 

closely with landlords and operate a forum to help with problem solving, such as issues with 

Job Centre Plus. 

12.5 This Borough argue that they abide by collective agreements on temporary accommodation 

rates but do procure more temporary accommodation out of borough than some of their 

neighbours. They argue that all boroughs place people outside their boundaries, and apart 

from outliers such as Westminster, ‘it all evens out’. The view was that they get 85% annual 

renewals from landlords without offering incentives, whereas other boroughs will pay to 

renew leases.  

12.6 We spoke to two different boroughs (Croydon and Camden) who have had some success in 

dealing with homelessness and managing temporary accommodation spend to see what 

lessons there may be from the approaches they have taken.  

12.7 Croydon are in many ways a mirror of Enfield as a large outer London Borough with a 

relatively low amount of homes for social rent and a large PRS. On the back of welfare reform, 

especially the LHA cap, Croydon took a decision a few years ago to move to a ‘gateway model’ 

which takes a preventative approach to homelessness by prioritising getting all people who 

approach for assistance into the PRS, using action plans and making quick decisions on 

support packages. This approach includes employment support, help with budgeting, rent in 

advance and use of Discretionary Housing Payments. This is supported by a significant change 

in the message for staff and residents, namely that due to the length of the waiting lists, you 

will not access social housing. As a result, and despite a 50% increase in applications since the 

Homelessness Reduction Act, rates of nightly paid and leased temporary accommodation have 

not increased.  

12.8 Croydon have also gone into the private market and bought 250 street properties. They have 

set up a separate housing company so they can offer assured shorthold tenancies. They have 

also bought blocks and converted office space within the borough to residential units, creating 

an additional 300 units. They argue that the worst thing you can do is use your own stock as 

temporary accommodation. 

12.9 Croydon have produced a map showing the journey for people going through the system, 

showing that the journey always ends with the PRS, and this can be done quickly or slowly, 

with the same result. They have worked with MPs and Councillors to get them on board with 

the strategy, getting on top of complaints right away but being very clear about the pathway. 

All letters have text about helping people into the PRS. They are still able to find landlords who 

will let at the LHA rate and have opted to join Capital Letters, although they are unsure what 

the impact will be. Although there is clearly churn within South London, with boroughs such as 

Lambeth and Southwark placing households in temporary accommodation, Croydon’s view is 

that there is little point in blaming those boroughs for doing that, as these are mostly family 

Page 45



36 
 

homes anyway and the borough boundary lines don’t mean much to people facing 

homelessness.  

12.10 Camden are a very different Borough to Enfield in terms of housing stock. They have roughly a 

third owner occupied, a third for social rent and a third in the PRS, the majority of which is let 

at very high rents. They make 1,000 social housing allocations each year. The homelessness 

issue comes mostly from outside the Borough, often from people who were from Camden 

originally. They changed their approach to managing demand in the mid 2000s. At the time 

there was a target to halve temporary accommodation by 2010. They had 2,000 households in 

temporary accommodation then, 676 by 2010. Now they have just over 500. They achieved 

this by using the housing allocation scheme and the PRS to prevent homelessness.  

12.11 When households approach in Camden they are given two options. Firstly, if you cannot keep 

your current home you can go into temporary accommodation and you will receive only 100 

points to bid for social housing with no additional points for overcrowding. If you are 

overcrowded, they will move you to new temporary accommodation. Alternatively, you can 

choose not to apply to become homeless, they will help you into the PRS, you will still receive 

100 points, but after six months you will receive a bonus of an additional 100 points, so the 

yearly increase in points is doubled. Up to three different PRS tenancies are offered and a 

floating support worker is allocated so the tenancy starts successfully and the landlord/agent 

has someone to speak to if there is a problem. A tenancy sustainment team specifically for the 

PRS was created. They offer tenancy training and usually will not offer a tenancy in the PRS 

until the training has been completed, so landlords know they are getting ‘good’ tenants. 

12.12 Those who opted to become homeless and enter temporary accommodation anyway are now 

given a ‘qualifying offer’ of a PRS tenancy and can still receive the 100 points. This has made a 

big difference in terms of further reducing the numbers in temporary accommodation. 

Camden say their approach has worked because they have been clear and consistent about 

their approach, so community organisations and third-party advice organisations in the 

voluntary sector understand and accept it. They also say staff have responded well as there is 

a better culture, treating people well and understanding that the PRS is the best solution 

available to homelessness.  

  

Page 46



37 
 

13. Views and experiences of clients at risk of becoming homeless or who have 

become homeless and are living in TA. 
13.1 To test out some of the working hypotheses on why Enfield has such high rates of 

homelessness we conducted telephone interviews with a small sample of ten clients, five 

homeless and living in temporary accommodation, five who have made an approach and are 

going through the process of applying to become homeless. 

13.2 Our interviewees had originally moved to Enfield for a wide variety of reasons. Some had 

moved in with relatives during a time of hardship or difficulty in their lives, others knew 

people in Enfield and had been told the area was nice and they could rent privately, a 

commutable distance from work or study. One had been placed in Enfield by Kensington and 

Chelsea following a relationship breakdown and one had been accepted as homeless by 

Enfield after fleeing domestic violence outside London.  

13.3 Other than one man who became street homeless after being evicted by a relative and 

another who had his tenancy cancelled whilst he was in prison, the most common reason for 

becoming homeless was the breakdown of a private tenancy due to the accommodation 

becoming unsuitable through overcrowding or poor maintenance, or the landlord wishing to 

increase the rent, but in most cases the pattern was a traumatic incident such as relationship 

breakdown, serious illness, pregnancy or unemployment resulting in the tenant being unable 

to pay the rent, or more commonly the gap between the LHA and their rent.  

13.4 The most common source of advice and support people sought was from family, friends or 

neighbours. Some said that their landlords had advised them to go to John Wilkes House and 

tell staff they were about to be evicted. Just over half of them had been in contact with the 

CAB but most found this unhelpful due to very short appointment times and a lack of clear 

advice on how to proceed. The most commonly cited advice from the CAB was to visit John 

Wilkes House. One client had support from Shelter in fighting his eviction. Another had 

support from a social worker following a breakdown. One man was receiving informal advice 

from a nurse at a hospital at which he was due to have a serious medical procedure as the 

operation could not go ahead without him having accommodation in place. 

13.5 There is very little awareness that the Council can do anything to help you contact them 

earlier in the process. Most assume nothing can be done until you are about to be evicted. 

Asked what would have made the difference in preventing them from becoming homeless, 

the response is usually either direct help with the rent after a change in personal 

circumstances, or someone to speak to the landlord on their behalf. Help navigating the 

benefits system during a change in circumstances was also mentioned, especially by the single 

mothers we spoke to. Two interviewees said they had gone to the Council for help only to be 

told that they could only apply to become homeless once an eviction notice had been served, 

and that they should put their possessions in storage before the bailiffs arrive and then bring 

their paperwork to John Wilkes House once the eviction had taken place. 

13.6 Although a few interviewees said that they did hope to access social housing in the future, 

nobody believed that this would be easy or that it was likely that they would be able to access 

social housing. Although people usually did not have any knowledge on how much social 

housing there is available in Enfield in comparison with other boroughs, it was well 

understood there is a shortage in London and there are long waiting lists.  

13.7 In general, people had little idea what to expect when they became homeless. The single 

homeless men we spoke to simply wanted a roof over their heads. The single mothers hoped 

Page 47



38 
 

for a property in a decent area not too far from their children’s school but had no idea what 

they would be offered. They were all aware you would have to pay rent in temporary 

accommodation. 

13.8 Although our interviewees had generally found the council staff whom they had spoken to 

engaging and friendly, they had all found the system to be slow and difficult to navigate. They 

feel that unless you are talking to someone face to face then the response is poor; it is difficult 

to access information by writing or phoning. 

13.9 In terms of their future plans, the route out of temporary accommodation depends on 

improving their income through their employment situation or their benefits. Most accept 

that social housing is not likely to be their next move. The single homeless men we spoke to 

want to return to work and get their own property; but given the significant barriers they face 

in terms of their health this seems unlikely. The single mothers all wish to work when their 

childcare responsibilities will allow. The single mothers want to access the PRS so they can 

exercise control over their choice of area and the quality of their accommodation, but they do 

not believe it will be cost effective to return to employment until they can access subsidised 

childcare or until their children are all in full time education.  

 

14. Options for change 
Based on the findings from the interviews and data analysis, the following suggests options for 

change which could reduce the levels of homelessness and address issues with temporary 

accommodation. 

Local action 

14.1 Clearer policy and messaging: The approaches from Croydon and Camden provide contrasting 

ways that a council can seek to operate. The former is to make it explicitly clear that when 

someone is presenting as homeless that they are advised that all roads lead to the PRS 

whereas Camden uses the points system to provide an incentive not to become homeless by 

increasing the chances of securing a social tenancy. The ability to deliver the Camden 

approach may be constrained by the levels of social housing in Enfield (37% of households in 

Camden live in social housing versus 20% in Enfield and 15% in Croydon). It is not possible to 

assess the efficacy of the approaches given the very different demographics and housing 

markets/social housing provision. However, alongside incentivising certain behaviour, 

providing a better opportunity of securing a social tenancy if achieved is likely to result in a 

more affordable and sustainable tenancy. Regardless of the approach, both borough’s stated 

that they had a clear and consistent approach.  The view from other boroughs about residents 

receiving early information and support was that there needed to be a clear and consistent 

message about the council’s approach to homelessness. Those interviewed from Enfield 

suggested this may be lacking at the moment. 

14.2 Invest to save: Some of the options for change outlined below require additional resources. 

However, overall the council could consider looking at interventions as invest to save 

measures. Examples were highlighted where prevention could reduce budgetary pressures. 

The reverse of this was highlighted in one of the interviews with Enfield where in which it was 

stated that a 10% increase in homelessness could add £6m to the council’s budget.   

 

Page 48



39 
 

14.3 Early intervention: The evidence from the interviews with tenants suggested that support 

would have been welcome and useful earlier in the process. Additional funding to raise 

awareness and intervene early was requested by these households and was seen as important 

in the interviews. Central government funding of support for people who are homeless or are 

at risk of homelessness could help significantly (see below).  

 

14.4 Working with the third sector: One way of intervening early may be to work with third sector 

organisations. The Welsh government has highlighted a third sector agency which imbeds 

itself within council services (such as housing, children services and welfare rights) to offer 

mediation where homelessness is a risk.25 Similarly, Camden council works third sector 

organisations whose clients have a high risk of homelessness, including victims of domestic 

violence and abuse and people with mental health issues.26 The council could consider how 

best to work with and support the third sector, either by through greater liaison with the 

sector or direct funding for organisations to help provide information, support and advice on 

homelessness.   

14.5 Review pre-tenancy training:  As mentioned by Croydon, this could not just help tenancy 

sustainability but also build up trust and relationships with landlords in the private rented 

sector.  

14.6 Better engagement with landlords: Those managers interviewed from the Borough spoke of 

potential tensions between landlords regarding engaging them on evictions whilst also 

seeking to raise standards through licensing. Additional resources may be required to manage 

this relationship. However, as the example given of a staff member situated in the Job Centre 

Plus office stated, this could deliver significant savings (the tenants spoken to wanted support 

in speaking to and liaising with their landlord).  

14.7 Introduce a borough-wide landlord licensing scheme: A borough-wide licensing scheme could 

help drive up standards in the PRS and help tackle homelessness. Such a scheme could include 

setting basic safety standards but also require landlords to undertake a training session to 

ensure they know their rights and responsibilities. Those landlords failing to meet certain 

standards could be barred from operating in the borough. It could also provide invaluable 

information about the stock, rent levels and areas where the PRS is most concentrated. This 

could help the council actively engage with landlords on homelessness, build up relationships 

and enforce standards. Evidence from Shelter Scotland27 about the Scottish register of 

landlords found that it helped local authorities provide training, information and advice for 

landlords and also address bad practice. The scheme and information about landlords could 

also be used by the council when discharging the homelessness duties. Any such scheme 

would, however, need top ensure high levels of coverage to ensure that it is not just the ‘best’ 

landlords that are registered. 

14.8 Stakeholder forum: Managing the relationship with a large number of small private landlords 

is likely to be challenging. Nevertheless, the Borough could look to create a forum for private 

landlords, agents, tenants’ groups, Job Centre Plus, third sector organisations and social 

landlords to discuss specific housing and homelessness issues to help with problem solving. 

                                                           
25

 Welsh Government, Preventing Homelessness and Promoting Independence: A Positive Pathway to 
Adulthood (2016) 
 
27

 Shelter Scotland, Landlord registration in Scotland: three years on (2009) 

Page 49



40 
 

This could help build relationships and trust and also help disseminate the Borough’s approach 

and what support is on other amongst a wider group of stakeholders.  

14.9 In-house provision of temporary accommodation: The Borough is heavily reliant on the 

private sector to support homelessness households. It could explore ways of increasing 

support for its local housing company, Housing Gateway, to buy additional PRS 

accommodation. This could help the Borough discharge its homelessness duties and thereby 

help reduce TA costs.  

14.10 Consider different forms of TA: Data from Ealing showed that certain types of TA require less 

subsidy from the council and in the case of hostel accommodation required none. The 

Borough could consider examining whether for certain types of households, such as single 

households, alternative provision could be provided within the Borough. Although it would 

not reduce homelessness it could provide additional resources to do so. 

14.11 Join Capital Letters: Capital Letter is a pan-London procurement company (established by 

London Councils with MCHLG funding) created to increase housing options, help people live 

closer to their borough and reduce competition and thereby prices. 13 boroughs were 

founding members of Capital Letters, but Enfield decided against joining at the time. The 

council could consider joining Capital Letters given its objective of reducing costs and 

increasing housing choices for residents. There was a strong view in the interviews that pan 

London co-operation would make a difference.  

 

14.12 Review the approach to incentives: The Borough may wish to explore whether annual 

incentives to landlords for tenancy renewals is a good use of money. It was suggested by a 

neighbouring borough that they have high levels of renewals without the need for making 

these annual payments. The view from Enfield was that the practice of paying landlords 

incentives was not widespread and were leading on cross-borough incentive payment 

harmonisation. Nevertheless, Enfield may wish to consider reducing its use further balanced 

against the risk that landlords turn away from letting homes, especially if there are also costs 

attached to registering as a landlord. 

Policy changes beyond Enfield 

14.13 Greater collaboration: The data suggests that while Enfield does place families out of borough 

it is a net importer of households in temporary accommodation. There could be scope for 

greater collaboration between Enfield and its neighbouring boroughs. This could include 

around co-operation on temporary accommodation procurement and harmonising incentive 

payments for TA providers.  

14.14 More support from the GLA: There is scope for the GLA to play a greater role in bringing 

boroughs together to foster collaboration that seeks to address the underlying causes of 

homelessness and need for temporary accommodation and displacement of problems from 

one borough to another. As such, the GLA could establish a homelessness panel comprised of 

London boroughs and third sector organisations to accompany the recently announced 

housing panel which looks at broader housing issues in the capital.  

14.15 Additional support for new temporary accommodation could be supported by the GLA. The 

GLA has supported the Pan-London Accommodation Collaborative Enterprise (PLACE) 

established to acquire modular temporary accommodation, but could do more. There may 

Page 50



41 
 

also be a case that additional support is focused on areas like Enfield with urgent 

homelessness problems and where land values are lower.  

14.16 Increase LHA rates: The data highlights the strong correlation between areas with levels of 

private renters claiming housing benefit and levels of homelessness due to the ending of an 

assured shorthold tenancy. There is also growing scrutiny of the impact that welfare reforms 

have had on levels of homelessness. The evidence would therefore point towards a shift in 

government policy on increasing LHA rates (and other reforms) having a positive impact on 

the levels of homelessness, which would specifically benefit Enfield. Given the dynamics of the 

housing market in London this could also help slow the pace of any displacement of 

households from inner London. The council may wish to (publicly or privately) push for 

government to make reforms to LHA rates. It could also seek to work with campaign 

organisations who are lobbying government to return LHA levels to the 30th percentile.28  

14.17 More social housing: The data suggests that Enfield has a lower proportion of social rented 

properties than other boroughs. With problems associated with homelessness now appearing 

to be concentrated in the PRS efforts to increase supply (possibly via one of its local housing 

companies) could help people into more sustainable tenancies. Achieving a substantial 

increase in social housing may be difficult because of constraints on grant levels but there 

could be a strong case for requesting further support from the GLA because of the higher 

proportion of poorer residents to the relatively low levels of social housing. And at a national 

level for further funding of social housing, including removing barriers facing councils to build 

themselves.  

14.18 Longer term funding from central government. Tackling homelessness and eradicating the 

use of temporary accommodation is likely to be a long-term objective. As such there is a case 

to argue for sustainable funding from central government to tackle the problem by taking a 

strategic approach. Indeed, it is understood that this is the approach adopted in the Council’s 

response to the Fairer Funding review. Given Enfield’s levels of homelessness it may have a 

strong case for it to receive more funding under existing or new funding programmes.  

 

 
 
 
  
 

                                                           
28

 Crisis, Everybody In: How to end homelessness in Great Britain (2018) 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

 

 

 
 
 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
The Inspection of Local Authority’s Children Services (ILACs) framework was 
implemented by Ofsted in 2018. These inspections focus on the effectiveness of 
local authority services and arrangements:  

 To help and protect children  

 The experiences and progress of children in care wherever they live, 
including those who return home 

 The arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after, 
including adoption  

 The experiences and progress of care leavers.   
 
In March 2019, Ofsted carried out a standard inspection, in all four of the above 
areas Enfield were judged to be Good.  However, the inspection identified four 
important areas where further improvement was required.  
 
This improvement plan sets out the actions we have taken since the inspection and 
our ongoing actions in response to the four areas identified for improvement by 
Ofsted.  
 

2. ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 
 
None identified at this stage. 
 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

REPORT TO: OSC 
 
DATE: 7 November 2019 
 
REPORT TITLE: Ofsted Improvement Plan  

 
REPORT AUTHOR/S: Angela Bent, angela.bent@enfield.gov.uk  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To update the committee on the progress against the 

improvement plan. 

 
SUMMARY:  The action plan was developed following the March 2019 

inspection of children services.  Four areas were identified as areas where further 
improvement was required.   
 
The action plan evidences our response to these areas:   
 

1. The quality of plans for children in need  
2. Return home interviews for children missing from home 
3. Private fostering responses, including timely statutory checks and regular 

visits to ensure that children live in safe arrangements to meet their needs 
4. Health information for care leavers 

 

Page 53 Agenda Item 4

mailto:angela.bent@enfield.gov.uk


2 
 

 
No specific recommendations. The report is circulated to Members for their 
information.  

 
 
4. NEXT STEPS 
This action plan will be made available to Ofsted as part of the annual engagement 
meeting due to be held in November 2019. 

 

Page 54



1 
 

Enfield Improvement Plan - Progress since inspection 
 
Between 4th - 15th March 2019, London Borough of Enfield Children Services were inspected by Ofsted under the Inspection of Local Authority’s Children Services (ILACs) 
Framework.   The report was published on 15th April 2019, with the following judgements:  
 

Judgement  Grade 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families  Good 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection  Good 

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers Good 

Overall effectiveness Good 

 
The inspection identified four important areas where further improvement was required. This improvement plan sets out the actions and the progress since the inspection 
in response to those four areas.  
 

Improvement Action  
  

Progress Intended outcome 
and impact   

Area for improvement 1 

 
The quality of plans for children in need 

 

1.1 Focus practice lead and coaching support on 
improving the quality of children in need plans. 

Completed  
Child in Need (CIN) planning groups have been set up to inform planning.  
Practice leads have provided targeted work with the Child Protection & 
Family Support Team (CPFST) and Safeguarding & Quality Assurance Service 
(SQAS) to improve the quality and practice of CIN plans.  
 
To sustain and further improve the consistency of CIN plans, it has been 
added as action in the Children and Family Services’ Continuous 
Improvement Plan.  

There is a clear and 
shared understanding 
amongst practitioners 
on what a good quality 
plan looks like.  CIN 
plans will be focussed 
and relevant to 
achieving good 
outcomes. Plans will 
evidence that all 
practitioners and 
managers have 
consistently 
implemented practice 
standards in plans. 

1.2 Establish a working group focused on ensuring social 
work practice standards are embedded into practice 
with children and families. 

Completed 
A CIN group, involving “CIN Champions” has been established and is led by a 
Head of Service. The group includes representatives from the Joint Service 
for Disabled Children and Assessment teams.  A practice lead is linked to this 
group. The group focuses on delivering workshops to embed high practice 
standards across children’s services. The impact and progress of this group is 

P
age 55



2 
 

Improvement Action  
  

Progress Intended outcome 
and impact   

overseen by the Practice and Performance and Continuous Improvement 
Boards.  

This will continue to 
be evidenced through 
the annual audit 
programme. 
 
 
There should be a 
reduction in re-
referrals and repeat 
Child Protection Plans. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Improvement in key 
stage education 
measures for CIN. This 
is will be evidenced by 
Enfield’s improved 
ranking. 

1.3 Undertake an audit of the quality of CIN plans, 
including when the decision at Child Protection 
Conferences has been made that the threshold for 
Child protection has not been met.  

Completed 
Over 1000 children’s records were checked by the Practice leads, this 
included all the open CIN children in the CPFST Service. The primary focus 
was to ensure that all children had a high-quality plan.  
 
Between May and July 2019, CIN audits were undertaken - these also 
included an audit of cases that had been opened for over 12 months and 
cases held in the Joint Service for Disabled Children.  In addition, the practice 
leads tracked and reviewed 36 children as an outcome of the CIN workshops 
held in June and July. These cases will be re-audited in November 2019 to 
ensure that practice has improved.  
 
Overall improvements have been seen in the quality of CIN plans since the 
start of 2019 but consistency remains an issue and will be monitored in the 
Children and Family Services Continuous Improvement Plan. 

1.4 Ensure that CIN plans are in place for a minimum of 3 
months when the decision has been made to step 
down from child protection.   

Completed 
Assurance provided by Service Manager of CPFST that CIN plans are in place 
for a minimum of 3 months, in exceptional circumstances a Head of Service 
or Service Manager can approve an earlier closure. 
 
CIN procedures updated to reflect local practice.   

1.5 Increase focus on improving educational outcomes 
for CIN.  
 

Completed  
A review of the educational outcomes for children in need has been 
completed and an action plan has been put in place and included in the 
Continuous Improvement Plan.  
 
The Head of the Virtual School now has responsibility for monitoring and 
supporting the educational outcomes of CIN who are open to the CIN 
service. Actions to date include engaging with secondary heads and holding 
a surgery in the child protection and family support team.  Also, child 

P
age 56



3 
 

Improvement Action  
  

Progress Intended outcome 
and impact   

protection conference reports have been amended to capture more 
information about attendance, persistent absences, exclusions and 
attainment.  

Area for improvement 2 

 
Return home interviews for children missing from home 

 

2.1 Undertake a review of return home arrangements 
when children go missing from home and care. 

Completed 
The review has been completed and resulted in the setting up of a Missing 
Persons Debriefing Service which started in September 2019 and is based in 
the MASH.  All missing children are offered an independent debriefing on 
their return and key information shared with relevant agencies.  

The response to 
children missing from 
home and care will be 
consistent whether 
the child is known to 
the local authority or 
not. This will be 
evidenced through the 
annual audit 
programme. 
 
 
 
Improved oversight 
and trend analysis. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2 Seek partnership agreement for the updated multi 
agency missing from care and home protocol and 
disseminate to all agencies. 

Protocol is being updated to include the new debriefing service and return 
home interview arrangements.  This will be presented to the Executive 
Meeting – Enfield Safeguarding Partnership in November 2019. 

2.3 Deliver a series of workshops to ensure staff 
understand the processes and importance of 
safeguarding missing children from home and care.  

Workshops are included in the children’s workforce training programme 
from September 2019.  

2.4 Ensure there is regular reporting to senior 
management meetings, the local safeguarding 
partnership and vulnerable young person’s group for 
scrutiny and monitoring. 

Completed 
The schedule for reporting on children missing from care and home is in 
place.  Reporting will be: 

 Quarterly to the Vulnerable Young Person Group,  

 Annually to the safeguarding partnership 

 Bi annually to the Practice and Performance Board  
 
 

P
age 57



4 
 

Improvement Action  
  

Progress Intended outcome 
and impact   

Area for improvement 3 
 

Private fostering, including timely statutory checks and regular visits to  
ensure that children live in safe arrangements to meet their needs 

 
3.1 Transfer responsibility for private fostering 

arrangements from the child protection and family 
support team to the fostering team. 

Completed  
The transition of casework responsibility of private fostering activity to the 
Fostering and SGO service is now complete and local guidance has been 
updated.  
 
A review on our local practice of seeking private fostering references has 
been completed and procedures have been updated.   
 
The impact of the new arrangements in respect to the timeliness of 
statutory checks and visits will be monitored and reviewed as part of the 
Continuous Improvement Plan. Since the inspection the number of private 
fostered children being supported has increased to 15 from 4. 

Private fostering 
arrangements will be 
identified, assessed 
and needs met 
promptly within 
timescales. 

3.2 Review all private fostering procedures and update 
to reflect changes of practice. 

Completed  
Procedures have been updated to reflect revised practice.  

Area for improvement 4 
 

Health information for care leavers 
 

4.1 Undertake an audit of recent care leavers to identify 
any care leaver who did not have access to their 
health passport 

Completed 
A review of care leavers has been completed and health passports provided 
where required. 

All our care leavers 
will be aware and in 
receipt of their health 
passports. This will be 
evidenced through the 
annual audit 
programme. 

4.2 Embed a streamlined process to ensure that all care 
leavers who have spent a year or more in care are 
provided with a health history passport when they 
reach age eighteen. 

Completed 
A new process has been developed to ensure that all young people who 
have been looked after for over 12 months are provided with their health 
passport as they reach 18. 

P
age 58



5 
 

Improvement Action  
  

Progress Intended outcome 
and impact   

4.4 An ‘annual audit of compliance’ to be undertaken to 
ensure that young people are receiving their health 
passports on reaching 18 and that copies are 
uploaded to their files in case the originals are lost. 

The audit will take place in December 2019.  

Area for improvement 5 
Leadership 

5.1 Seek further investment to build on improvements 
and maintaining caseloads at a reasonable level, 
increasing quality assurance processes and 
continuing to deliver practice lead and coaching 
support to staff. 

Completed  
 
Cabinet approved additional investment of £375k In June 2019. Further 
proposals are being considered at the November 2019 Cabinet meeting and 
through the medium-term financial plan. 

 

Improved consistency 
of practice and quality 
assurance to deliver 
positive outcomes for 
children and families. 

 
 
 
Monitoring  
 
The Continuous Improvement Board, chaired by the Director of Children and Families Service, and the Practice and Performance Board, chaired by the Executive Director - 
People, both oversee progress against the improvement plan and the wider practice improvement activities.  
 
The improvement plan will be scrutinised by the Assurance Board chaired by the Chief Executive, multi-agency Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and monitored by the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Executive Director – People through regular progress reports. The service will seek further independent benchmarking 
opportunities, for example, through external review, peer reviews and mock inspections to benchmark performance and ensure continuous improvement. 
 

 

Angela Bent  

Head of Practice Improvement 

 

October 2019 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
The Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) system was implemented by 
Ofsted in 2018. Under this system, Ofsted use the intelligence and information they have to 
inform decisions about how best to inspect each local authority. This system includes:  

 local authorities sharing an annual self-evaluation of the quality and impact of social 
work practice  

 an annual engagement meeting between our regional representatives and the local 
authority to review the self-evaluation, reflect on what is happening in the local 
authority and inform how they would engage with each other in future  

 our local authority intelligence tool (LAIT) (which brings data and information into a 
single record)  

 focused visits that look at a specific area of service or cohort of children  
 standard and short inspections where we make judgements using our four-point 

scale  
 joint targeted area inspection (JTAI)  

 
This report is a self-evaluation which will be shared with Ofsted in November 2019 as part 
of the annual engagement meeting.  It includes information that already exists within the 
local authority and is used to monitor quality of services provided to children, young people 
and their families.  This includes data available within the financial year. 
 
The Self-Evaluation should answer three questions;  

 What do you know about the quality and impact of social work practice in your 
local authority?  

 How do you know it?  

REPORT TO: OSC 
 
DATE: 7 November 2019 
 
REPORT TITLE: Annual Childrens Self Evaluation Framework Assessment 

2019 

 
REPORT AUTHOR/S: Angela Bent, angela.bent@enfield.gov.uk  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To update the committee on the Children Self 

Evaluation (SEF) 2019. 

 
SUMMARY:  The SEF is the Children’s Services self-evaluation of the quality 

and impact of social work practice in the borough over the past year. 
 
The report covers 6 core areas: 
 

1. The Experience of Children in Need of Help 
2. The Experience of Children in Need of Protection  
3. The Experience and Progress of Children in Care 
4. The Arrangements for Looked After Children and those Adopted 
5. The Experience and Progress of Care Leavers 
6. The Impact of Leadership on Practice with Children and Families.  

 
The SEF report is attached.  

Page 61 Agenda Item 5

mailto:angela.bent@enfield.gov.uk


 What are your improvement plans for the next 12 months?  
 
SEF highlights 
 

 2018/19 has been a busy year for children’s services with pressures and successes 
and has also included a mock inspection of MASH and Assessment service in 
August 2018, an Ofsted focussed inspection in September 2018, culminating in 
March 2019 in a full inspection, which resulted in an overall judgement of Good.  
 

 The self-evaluation of the quality and impact of social work practice shows that 
across children’s service practice is improving. 
 

 The recently refreshed practice and quality assurance framework has shown steady 
improvement in practice. The introduction of a 6-weekly in-team audit and 
moderation process gives oversight and provides assurance to senior officers.  The 
introduction of Practice Weeks supports protected learning time, and enables senior 
managers to understand how practitioners work with children and their families 
through practice observations.  
 

 The realigning of the early help teams into an early help hub has provided a strong 
local early help model and offer to children and their families. So, although there has 
been an increase in referrals to children services, there has been a decrease 
coming through to MASH, requiring statutory interventions.  
 

 Where a decision has been taken to initiate a Section 47 investigation, which is the 
LA statutory duty to make enquiries when a child is suspected to be suffering or 
likely to suffer harm, a review found decision making and application of threshold 
had been appropriate and proportionate.  
 

 The number of children and young people cared for by the local authority has 
remained stable, with stable placements. The year has seen an increase in the 
number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. 
 

 There has been an increase in children that have been adopted and Enfield has 
plans to become part of the regional adoption agency, Adopt London North.  
 

 Enfield published its local offer to Care leavers; this is a requirement from the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017. 
 

 The year has seen investment from leaders, in recognition of the pressures and 
needs. There was a reduction in staff vacancies, agency staff and turnover. 
 

 Areas for continued focus and development have been detailed at the end of each 
section and will be embedded into the local continuous improvement action plan.  

 
 
2. ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 
 
Senior managers in Enfield are acutely aware that there are significant future challenges and 
have identified key priorities and areas for development. We are not complacent, recognising 
there is always more work to be done, and we remain confident that we have the talent, 
leadership, stability, drive and constructive relationships with children, families and our 
partners, to deliver consistently good outcomes for vulnerable children and their families. 

 

Page 62



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Support the development priorities for 2019/20 as outlined within the self-evaluation.  

 
 
4. NEXT STEPS 
This report will be made available to Ofsted as part of the annual engagement meeting due 
to be held in November 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 63



 

 
ENFIELD SELF EVALUATION FRAMEWORK 

ASSESSMENT April 2018 – March 2019 
 

Children Services self-evaluation of the quality and 
impact of social work practice 

Introduction 

 This report is Enfield’s self-evaluation of the quality and impact of social work 
practice within its children services and aims to provide a picture of current 
practice, service delivery and areas for future focus. Data used within this 
report is from April 2018- March 2019 unless otherwise stated.   
 

 Whilst the local context provides some challenges, social workers in Enfield 
have high aspirations for children and young people and take pride in their 
practice and are focussed on improving the lives of children and families in 
the borough.   
 
This year, children and family services inspection timeline has included a 
mock inspection of MASH and R&A in August 2018, an Ofsted focussed 
inspection in September 2018.  Culminating, in March 2019, with a standard 
2-week inspection by Ofsted under the inspection of local authority’s children 
services (ILACs) framework.   The formal report was published on 15th April 
2019 with overall effectiveness being judged as good. 
 

 The grading indicated that children in need of help and protection, child in 
care and care leavers in Enfield receive good services. Leadership in Enfield 
was judged good. This inspection identified four key areas for improvement. 

 
Children services assurance and accountability framework 

 Our quality assurance framework and performance information provide an 
overview of the effectiveness of our services and indicates what actions and 
areas for further development are required to improve outcomes for children 
and families.  We routinely analyse data on activity and performance to 
understand practice, to learn and take improvement actions. 
 

 Enfield has produced a set of social work standards and promises to 
children and their families, that cover the core social work activities and 
clearly sets out what is required and routinely practiced by case workers. The 
introduction of Practice Weeks in 2018 supports protected learning time 
and enables senior managers to understand how practitioners work with 
children and their families through practice observations. Since July 2015, our 
chosen practice model has been Signs of Safety. 
 
 
 

Page 64



 
 

The Experience of Children in Need of Help  

 

Main point 

 Overall Children in need of help receive a good service from children and 
family services. 
 

 Over the past 12 months the impact of bringing early help services together 
to create an early help family hub with a triage service, has strengthened 
the local early help model and offer to children, young people and their 
families.  As well as the range of early help services, there is a strong 
collaborative partnership. Additional investment has also increased the 
capacity in Parent Support advisors to respond to local need. 
 

 In Enfield there is a strong local offer for children with SEND, who have 
access to range of services to meet their complex needs 

 

 
We know this because:  

 During 2018-19, there was an increase in referrals accepted by Early help 
family hub, a total of 604 families. This is an increase, from the previous year, 
it is believed this is due to the increase in step downs and the launch of the 
early help triage system in September 2018. There was a total of 145 families 
stepped down to the early help family hub. 
 

 The Joint Service for Disabled Children provides a strong offer to families and 
staff have been trained to deliver positive behaviour support programme.  
There has been notable success with supported internships which has led to 
83% still in employment and 17% returning to college.  
 

       
 

 There has been a year on year reduction of children being permanently 
excluded.  There has been an increase in children who are being electively 
home educated in the current academic year.  

 

83% 

17% 

Supported interns 

Paid
employment

College
12 

33 

0 10 20 30 40

2017/18 

2018/19 

No: of learners on the 
programme 

Number of learners

Page 65



              

 
 

 A streamlined electronic referral and information system was developed and is 
soon to be launched, aimed to reduce bureaucracy and simplify processes. 
This is called the Children’s Portal.  
 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 
 Launch the Children’s Portal. 
 Maintain high quality early help family hub 
 Review the step up and step-down process 
 Further develop Power B.I to all service areas including early help 
 Roll out more widely the positive behaviour support programme 
 Continue to monitor the number of EHE 

 
 
The Experience of Children in Need of Protection  

 

Main points 

 Overall Children in need of help receive a good service from children and 
family services. 
 

 A review of s47s found decision making and thresholds have been 
appropriate and proportionate. There is a shared understanding of 
thresholds with partners, but further improvement is required around the 
recording of decisions made in MASH. Assessments provide good 
evaluation of children and their families lives, and there has been 
improvement in the timeliness of completing C&F assessments. 

 

 
We know this because: 

 There has been an increase in overall contacts to children services, in 
2018/19, 29,364 contacts were received compared to the same time period 
last year (27, 301). Due to a strong early help model there has been a 
reduction in contacts to the MASH service, down to 14,211 in 2018/19 from 
19, 418 (2017/18).   
 

57 

33 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

2017/18 

2018/19 

Permanent exclusions 

Permanent exclusions

Page 66



             1      

 
 

 There has been an increase in those cases that require child protection 
enquiries, during 2017/18 Enfield (115.3 per 10,00 children) were low 
compared to outer London (156.40) and statistical neighbours (205.36), 
however this year numbers are rising (see figure below) a review undertaken 
found decision making and thresholds have been appropriate and 
proportionate.  

 

            
 

 There has been an upward trend in the number of children with CIN plans and 
who are subject to Child Protection plans. An audit was undertaken and 
confirmed decision for plans were appropriate.  
 

                                                 
1
 Power Bi data 

27,301 

29,353 

NO: CONTACTS 

No: Contacts to Children Social 
Care 

2017-18 2018-19

19,418 

14,211 

MASH CONTACTS 

MASH Contacts 

2017-18 2018-19

242 376 462 490 578 
727 

OCT-18 NOV-18 DEC-18 JAN-19 FEB-19 MAR-19 

Child Protection Enquiries  

Last 6mths 18/19

Page 67



 Ofsted found an area of improvement around the consistency of CIN plans. 
Action was put in place to respond and improve and sustain the quality of 
plans.  
 

 There has been an improvement in timeliness of Children and Family 
assessments completed within 45 days, from 67.5% in 2017/18 to 74.1% in 
2018/19.   
 
 

 
 

 As of the end of March 2019 there were 296 children subject to a child 
protection plan.  The number of children subject to child protection plans in 
Enfield has remained relatively low for some years but has increased over 
the last few years. 2016/17 a rate of 26.6 per 10,000 children (223 children), 
in 2017/18 it was 27.9 per 10,000 (235 children). 
 

 
 

 There has been a significant increase in CP Plans under the category of 
physical abuse since last year, from 3 (1.2%) to 29 (9.79%) and sexual 
abuse from 4 (1.65%) to 10 (3.37%). There has been more focus on the 
impact of domestic abuse on children, particularly younger children and the 
risk of physical harm during incidents of domestic abuse.  
 

67.50% 

74.10% 

2017-18 

2018-19 

Percentage of completed asessments  including current % 

242 
257 

280 281 272 259 
274 280 291 282 

267 
296 

233 226 224 225 
257 247 

232 226 239 251 258 
242 

Number of Child Protection Plans 

2018/19 2017/18

Page 68



 The two practice weeks held in the last 12 months focussed on domestic 
abuse and sexual abuse, and likely to have also been a contributory factor, 
with specific activities, team discussions and workshops on these two areas. 
The percentage of CPP under neglect and emotional abuse has slightly 
decreased. 
 

 Locally there is a low number of known private fostering arrangements. There 
were 10 private fostering placements closed during the year and 6 
notifications of new private fostering arrangements, of which 5 became 
private fostering arrangements. Private fostering was an area Ofsted identified 
for further improvement around consistency. Action has been taken and there 
are changes in the local arrangements. 
 

 Young people at risk of homelessness - receive a good response and over 
the year good outcomes have been achieved. In 2018-19 FAST worked with a 
total of 86 young people at risk of homelessness or entering the care system, 
and their families. Of these young people 2 became Looked After Children, 48 
were supported to live at home and 36 were assisted to access supported 
accommodation and to engage with services to enable them to follow a 
pathway through housing to independent living. 
 

 To complement FAST a service was commissioned in July 2018 for 1 year 
to work with children aged 8 to 16-year olds on the edge of care. The 6-
month review of 40 children has shown a 90% success rate, 17 cases 
successfully closed, 19 stepped down from CP to CiN/Early Help and only 1 
child became looked after and 3 children remained subject to child protection 
plans. There is evidence of improved education, employment and training 
outcomes: increase in school attendance in 10 cases and 2 young people 
gained employment. 
 

 Enfield’s care applications remain low at 5.60 per 10,000 child population, 
this down from 6.60 (2018), 7.30 (2017).  For 2019, our statistical neighbours 
were higher at 12.27 per 10,000. There is a national downward trend. 
 

               
 

 Between April 2018 to March 2019 there were 487 episodes of children going 
missing, this was attributed to 158 children. Ofsted identified further 

0

5

10

15

2016 2017 2018 2019

Cafcass care applications per 10,000 child population 

Enfield SN England

Page 69



improvement in the response to children missing from home. A response to 
this, following leadership investment, was the recent establishing of a return 
home and debriefing service. 
 

 In 2018/19, 162 children were identified as affected by CSE (increase from 
136 in the previous year.  There has been a year on year increase in the 
identification of exploitation, with a notable increase in young people with 
indicators of criminal exploitation.   This year a new Safeguarding Adolescent 
for Exploitation (SAFE) strategy was developed.  
 

              
 

 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 

 Refresh the Threshold document  

 Monitor and review the conversion rate of contact to referral to 
ensure thresholds are consistently applied and ensure 
consistency of practice within the MASH. 

 Improve and sustain the quality of plans for children in need. 

 Raise the visibility and educational aspirations of children 
subject to CIN plans with all agencies and social work teams 

 Monitor the timeliness of private fostering statutory checks and 
visits, within the new arrangements  

 Review the impact of the new debriefing arrangements for 
missing children 

 Improve our support to children affected by domestic abuse, 
launching a specialist team in 2019, in collaboration with police 

 Participate in a Peer Review of LADO processes 

 
The Experience and Progress of Children in Care  

 

Main points 
 

 Overall, Looked After Children receive a good service from children and 
family services, there is stability in their placements and the number of 
looked after children has remained stable. There has been an increase in 
the number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children who have become 
looked after by the local authority.  

112 
136 

162 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 

CSE list profile 2016 - 2019 

No: on CSE list

Page 70



 

 
We know this because  

 There has been a gradual increase in the number of looked after children 
(LAC) during 2018/19, with evidence of most children being in stable 
placements. At the end of March 2019 there were 382 children in care, this 
is an increase of 10% (35 children) from the number at the end of March 
2018. The year has seen an increase in the number of Unaccompanied 
Asylum-Seeking Children, who make up 19% of the looked after children.  
 

             

 
 

 LAC reviews are being held with in a timely manner, and a recent 
permanency planning audit identified good care planning.  The percentage of 
LAC reviews recorded to be within statutory timescales has significantly 
improved from last year, from 80.9% to 88.6%. The number of LAC reviews 
taking place within the required timescales is high with only a very small 
number of reviews overdue2.  
 

 Participation figures for looked after children in their reviews this year was 
85.3%, a significant improvement from last year’s 74.2%.  MOMO (Mind of 
My Own) is a system that gives 8-17 year olds and care leavers the ability to 
express their needs and views. Of the 167 young people who have accounts, 
89 used the app on a number of occasions. 
 

                                                 
2
 The timeliness of the reviews is measured based on the record of the meeting being completed on our 

electronic system 

348 345 340 337 
350 343 

360 368 363 366 369 
382 

331 
341 349 

339 340 341 346 344 347 344 350 347 

Number of Looked After Children  
2018/19 

2018/19 2017/18

Page 71



    
 

 The completion rate of Personal Education Plans for Looked after children is 
good and there has been Improvement in education attainment and reduction 
in exclusions. There has been an increase in annual health assessments of 
young people between 85 to 92% completion rate, however there has been a 
decline in the number accessing dental checks falling below 70%.  
 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 
 Improve and sustain good outcomes for more LAC including 

those placed out of borough 
 A focus on aligning processes and templates for ‘together and 

apart’ assessments 
 Review the process for regulation 24 and 25 placements 
 Strengthening the management oversight of placement panel 

and early care planning recommendations 
 

 
The Arrangements for Looked After Children and those Adopted  

 

Main points 
 

 Overall for the arrangements for looked after and adopted children is good 
from children and family services.  Most children are placed with foster 
parents mainly in stable placements.  There has been a slight decrease in 
the number of foster carer approvals. 
 

 There has been an increase in children adopted, there is timely family 
finding and matching. Post adoption support is good. 

 
We know this because: 

 Most looked after children are placed with foster carers, 69.5% at the end of 
March 2019, this was below the national average of 73% (17/18).  There are 
no children in welfare secure accommodation. 20% are in semi-independent. 
 

 There has been a continued focus on recruiting new foster carers, this year 
has seen a slight decrease in the number of foster carer approvals.  14 new 

74.20% 

85% 

PARTICIPATED 

YP participation 

2018/19 2017/18

53% 
47% 

No: YP using MOMO 2018/19 

Used Momo

Did not use

Page 72



mainstream Foster Carers were approved over the last year, a decrease from 
18 last year. 

 

                
 

 There has been an increase in children adopted and in special guardianship 
orders. 13 Enfield children have been adopted in 2018-19.  This is an 
increase from last year (2017-18) when 12 children were adopted. 
 

             
 

 There has been significant progress with Enfield has joined the Adopt London 
North Regional Adoption Agency and its expected go live date is October 
2019.  During 18/19, 4 sets of adoptive families have been approved.  This 
is considerably less than in the previous year (2017-18) when 11 families 
were approved. 

 

             
 

18 

14 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

NEW FOSTER CARE APPROVALS  

Approved foster carers 

2018-19 2017-18

12 

13 

No: Children adopted 

2018-19 2017-18

11 

4 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

APPROVED ADOPTERS 

Adoptive families approved.  

2018/19 2017/18

Page 73



 
 
 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 
 A review of permanency arrangements following the launch of 

RAA 
 Ensure consistency in permanence matches for children in long 

term foster care 
 

 
 
The Experience and Progress of Care Leavers  

 

Main points 

 Overall young people who are care leavers are offered a good service from 
children and family services. Pathway plans are of a good quality and 
personal advisors work well with young people.  Young people are listened 
to and support offered in an appropriate and timely manner. 

 

 
We know this because: 

 In line with the requirement of the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the 
Local Offer for care leavers was published.  There has been oversight of care 
leavers this year with a specific workstream in place through the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

 The Leaving Care service is currently working with a total of 263 looked after 
children and care leavers aged between 16 and 25. At the end of the financial 
year 60% were showing as being in Education, Employment and Training. 
This is an improvement from the previous year, there continues to be room for 
improvement. 
 

 As a result of feedback from care leavers, requesting more emotional support 
for those with mental health issues, resulted in an increase in the use of 
mentors and additional support from the HEART service. 
 

 The Ofsted inspection highlighted that not all young people had access to 
their health passports. Work has been undertaken to review that all young 
people now have their passports and a system has been put in place to 
ensure this continues in the future.   
 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 
 Review the impact of the core offer to continuously improve 

outcomes for care leavers 
 Develop a care leavers peer support network and forum to 

support their emotional wellbeing 
 Care Leavers Conference coordinated by young people  
 Annual compliance audit to ensure care leavers continue to 

have access to their health information 
 

Page 74



 
The Impact of Leadership on Practice with Children and Families 

 

Main points 
 

 Overall leadership is good; there has been strong and stable leadership 
providing support with investment and scrutiny.  Workforce stability is 
improving with a reduction in the use of agency workers. Recruitment of 
permanent staff is good, with a large proportion being newly qualified. There 
is a need to focus on the retaining of ASYEs post completion of the first 
year.  
 

 There is a real energy and passion for social work with frontline staff feeling 
they can influence future developments and organisational behaviours. 
 

 
We know this because: 

 Over the year, the corporate and political leadership team have shown strong 
and stable leadership, prioritising children services and providing support with 
investment and scrutiny. There is a stable operational management team. 
 

 Demand for children services is increasing, the investment has resulted in 
reducing caseloads and improved practice, with further permanent investment 
to be secured. 
 

 This year there has been a reduction in staff vacancies, agency staff and 
turnover. Vacancy rates are the lowest they have been since May 2018. 
 

 Enfield have a significant number of newly qualified team, that remains 
consistently high year on year. This year 24 newly qualified social workers 
completed the programme successfully. 
 

 In April, the Social Care Centre of Excellence (ESCCOE) was launched. The 
centre oversees newly qualified and student programmes including 
progressing a new apprenticeship programme, Childrens workforce 
development, training and quality assurance and practice improvement. 
 

 Reflective supervision is well established and found to be good, however time 
is not always protected to allowed for reflection or recorded to evidence it has 
happened. 
 

 The practice and quality assurance framework was refreshed to include the 
wider assurance models including the in-team audit and moderation process, 
which provides assurance of quality and impact of practice to the Executive 
Director and Director of Children and Family Service.  
 

Plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 
 Review local ASYE programme to ensure that within their first year, 

practitioners are being helped with skills, knowledge and capability, 
and strengthen their professional confidence.  

Page 75



 Increase ASYE retention. 
 Maintain a focus on caseloads to ensure they remain manageable. 
 Continue focus on recruitment, retention and workforce stability and 

quality of services include succession planning. 
 Review the impact of Social Care Centre of Excellence’s first year 
 Prepare the workforce for NAAS national rollout 
 Develop ‘grow your own social workers’ via the national social work 

apprenticeship scheme 
 Continue to improve and sustain the quality of supervision and 

recording  
 Develop audit framework further to include collaborative audits - 

include the voice of families 
 

 
Senior managers in Enfield are acutely aware that there are significant future 
challenges and have identified key priorities and areas for development. We are not 
complacent, recognising there is always more work to be done and we remain 
confident, that we have the talent, leadership, stability, drive and constructive 
relationships with children, families and our partners, to deliver consistently good 
outcomes for vulnerable children and their families. 

Page 76



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. There have been ten years of grant reductions which alongside every 
increasing demand for Council services has meant Enfield has need to 
make £179m across this period. 

1.2. There is a clear vision to put in place robust and resilience finances to 
enable the Council to safeguard services and protest the most 
vulnerable in the Borough. To this end a five-year Medium Term 
financial Plan is being developed which will be complemented by a ten 
year Capital Programme and ten year Treasury Management Strategy. 

2. ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 

2.1. The key issues and challenges are set out in the Tranche 1 savings 
report to Cabinet in October (link below for information).  This report 
brings forward savings and income generation proposals and provide 
spending and funding assumption updates building on the Budget 
Paper to Council in February and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
presented to Cabinet in July, both of which serve as useful background 
papers. 
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/documents/s77979/MTFP%20Update
%20and%20Tranche%201%20Savings%20Report.pdf.   

REPORT TO: OSC 
 
DATE: 7 November 2019 
 
REPORT TITLE: Budget Update 
 
REPORT AUTHOR/S: 
Matt Bowmer, Interim Director Finance & Commercial 
matt.bowmer@enfield.gov.uk 
0208 379 5580 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT: To update the Committee on the formulation 
of the Council’s 2020/21 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
2020/21 to 2024/25. 
 
SUMMARY:  
The Budget setting process commenced in April with the 
development of the vision and framework which were presented to 
Cabinet in July along with an update on spending and funding 
assumptions. 
Significant progress has been made in identifying savings and 
income generation initiatives to address the financial gap. These were 
presented to Cabinet in October seeking agreement to progress and 
bring forward to Council for approval in February. 
There is a specific Overview and Scrutiny meeting on 19th December 
to review Medium Term Financial Plan in advance of proceeding to 
Council in February 2020.  

Page 77 Agenda Item 6

http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/documents/s77979/MTFP%20Update%20and%20Tranche%201%20Savings%20Report.pdf
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/documents/s77979/MTFP%20Update%20and%20Tranche%201%20Savings%20Report.pdf
mailto:matt.bowmer@enfield.gov.uk


2 
 

2.2. Based on the latest spending forecasts and funding assumptions 
Enfield faces a funding gap of £15.5m in 2020/21 and £55.9m across 
the Medium Term. Tax raising powers for local Government mean that 
the Council Tax and Business Rates will not even meet the inflationary 
pressures faced by the Council. 

2.3. There are significant pressures being experienced both nationally and 
locally for Children’s Social Care, Adult Social Care, Special Education 
Needs provision especially Home to School Transport and Housing 
Services.  

2.4. The Chancellor’s spending announcement on 4 September gave the 
prospect of a better than anticipated settlement for Local Government in 
December but after ten year of reduction in general Government Grant 
is does not go far enough. Also at a time when the Council is rightfully 
planning its finances over the medium and longer term for capital, it is 
disappointing that the Settlement will only be for one year. 

2.5. There has been significant progress made in bridging the funding gap 
with £12.174m of savings and income generation proposals brought 
forward for consideration by Cabinet in October. Consultation on the 
overall budget is commencing through the Council’s e Newsletter in late 
October. 

2.6. There will be a further report to Cabinet in December with a second 
tranche of savings and updates on funding position which intend to 
bridge the remaining gap. There will be an opportunity for Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to scrutiny both tranches of proposals and the 
underlying assumption on spend and funding at its meeting on 19 
December 2019. 

2.7. The Local Government Funding Settlement which should confirm detail 
od the 4 September announcements is expected late December. This 
will be a provisional settlement subject to consultation which will be 
confirmed early towards the end of January. The final budget proposals 
will be presented to Council in February 2020. 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note: 

i. the current financial position outlined; 

ii. the opportunity to scrutinise the savings and income generation 
proposals and the underlying spending and funding assumptions 
at its meeting on 19 December 2019; and  

iii. the future reports to Cabinet with the Tranche 2 proposals in 
December and to Council for final approval in February 2020. 

 

Page 78



DRAFT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

 
The Role of Scrutiny in Meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a key role to play in ensuring that the Council meets all the statutory duties under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty of the Equality Act 2010, particularly in ensuring that the authority has due regard to the needs of diverse groups when designing, 

evaluating and delivering services in order to – 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the Act. 
• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 
• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 
 

In order to do this, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise the Council's Equality and Diversity Action Plan and Annual 

Achievement Report each year to monitor the Authority’s performance. The OS Committee will be flexible enough to pick up on issues of 

inequality, wherever they arise in the Council work programme, or to delegate to individual workstreams for investigation. OSC has a key role in 

providing a ‘critical friend’ challenge to the Council’s strategic equality objectives and scrutinising performance in delivering those objectives. 

In addition, as part of their normal work programme, each workstream will (where relevant and proportionate) - 

• request information about the equality impact assessments/analyses that have been undertaken whenever discussing proposals for 
new policies or future plans, or for current services, to inform their comments on those proposals or services 

• examine these assessments/analyses of impact in detail to check if they are robust and have been developed based on strong evidence 
and appropriate engagement 

• question and consider whether appropriate people have been involved and engaged in developing equality objectives and plans, and 
when assessing the impact of policies and proposals. 

• when procurement award criteria and contracts are determined, consider whether or not specific equality stipulations are required 
• Scrutiny may also wish to investigate the accessibility of equality and other published documents, asking questions such as – 

o what is done to promote these documents? 
o what languages or formats is the information available in? 
o which documents are most regularly required? 
o how aware are the public of the Authority’s equality plans and performance? 

 
  

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 7



DRAFT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

 
WORK 

 

22 May 19 
(Planning) 

18 June 19 23 July 19 4 Sept 19 30 Oct 19 7 Nov 19 19 Dec 19 13 Feb 20 2 Apr 20 

Date papers to be with 
Scrutiny Team 

 

         

Specific Topics:          

HR issues- The Council’s 
plan of reducing the 
number of external 
consultants and agency 
staff/ sickness & 
recruitment/ employment of 
BAME, gender/ women 
returning to work 

       Report  

ACM work programme     Receive work 
Programmes 

    

Temporary accommodation      Report    

Population Growth & 
Housing targets 

        Report 

Cultural strategy          

Pre-Decision scrutiny          

Future of Responsive 
Repairs Service 

Report         

HIF infrastructure works- 
the procurement strategy/ 
approval to procure 

 Report        

ICT & Digital Strategy          

Standing Items          

Children’s and Young 
People’s Issues 

  Annual 

Complaints 

Report for 

Adults Social 

Care and 

Fostering & 

Adoption/ 

IRO/LADO 

 Annual social 

care self 

assessment 

Ofsted 

Improvement 

 SEND places 

strategy update 

Educational 

attainment 

 

P
age 80



DRAFT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

 
WORK 

 

22 May 19 
(Planning) 

18 June 19 23 July 19 4 Sept 19 30 Oct 19 7 Nov 19 19 Dec 19 13 Feb 20 2 Apr 20 

Children’s 

Social Care 

Plan 

Monitoring/Updates          

Scrutiny Involvement in  
Budget Consultation 19/20 
 

     Update 
Report 

Budget 
Meeting 

  

Crime Scrutiny & Health 
Scrutiny Updates 

    Update    Update Report 

Annual Corporate 
Complaints Report 
 

  Report       

Customer Experience 
 

       Report  

Safeguarding Enfield 
2020/2021 priorities 

        Report 

Update on Workstream 
recommendations 

         

Work Programme          

Setting the Overview & 
Scrutiny Annual Work 
Programme 2019/20 

Agree Work 
Programme 
and discuss 
workstreams 

Finalise 
workstreams 

       

Selection of New 
Workstreams for 2019/20 

Discuss new 
Workstreams  

Finalise new 
workstreams 

       

 
Note: Provisional call-in dates: 20th June, 3

rd
 July, 8th August, 19th September, 28th November, 15th January, 30th January, 6th February, 4th and 26th March, 

28th April. These dates may also be used for pre-decision scrutiny as necessary. Any call-ins received will take precedence at this meeting.      

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION
	Homelessness in Enfield (Final)

	4 OFSTED IMPROVEMENT PLAN
	Enfield Improvement Plan

	5 ANNUAL CHILDREN'S SELF EVALUATION FRAMEWORK ASSESSMENT (SEF) 2019
	6 BUDGET PROGRESS UPDATE
	7 WORK PROGRAMME 2019/ 20

